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So close yet so far: no eye contact between Dr Nöel Browne and Archbishop John Charles McQuaid at the blessing in 1967 of Dublin’s Liberty Hall, sixteen years after the Mother and Child controversy.
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Dedication







For Liguori, Francis, Sarah and John who lived with John Charles McQuaid for six years


For my father, Francis Cooney, and my late Mother Mary, and family, who form the core of the Irish diaspora in Scotland.


For the Glasgow Saturday Theology Journal Club, especially the late Pat Bolan, Dr John Durkan, Hugh Falls, Jim McMillan, Malcolm Sinclair and Danny Baird.






















CHRONOLOGY















	1895

	 

	 

	Born July 28 at Cootehill, Co. Cavan.






	1905

	 

	 

	Attends St Patrick’s College, Cavan.






	1910

	 

	 

	Transfers to Blackrock College.






	1911

	 

	 

	Switches to Clongowes Wood College.






	1913

	 

	 

	Enters the Holy Ghost novitiate at Kimmage Manor.






	1917

	 

	 

	Graduates with B.A. First Class Honours in Classics, UCD.






	1918

	 

	 

	Awarded First Class M.A. Honours for thesis on Seneca.






	1919

	 

	 

	Takes a Higher Diploma in Education.






	1924

	 

	 

	Ordained priest at St. Mary’s College, Rathmines.






	1924

	 

	 

	Studies at the Biblical Institute in Rome.






	1925

	 

	 

	Appointed Dean of Studies at Blackrock College.






	1930

	 

	 

	Takes over as President of Blackrock College.






	1937

	 

	 

	Assists de Valera in drafting the Constitution.






	1940

	 

	 

	Appointed Archbishop of Dublin by Pope Pius XII.






	1950

	 

	 

	In Rome for the dogma of Mary’s Assumption into heaven.






	1951

	 

	 

	Embroiled in Mother and Child Scheme controversy with Dr Nöel Browne.






	1961

	 

	 

	Celebrated the 1500th anniversary of St Patrick.






	1962

	 

	 

	Attends Second Vatican Council.






	1965

	 

	 

	Celebrates Silver Jubilee but puts the brakes on the Council and becomes first bishop to open a diocesan press office.






	1972

	 

	 

	Obliged to stepdown by the Vatican. Closes his files on February 16 and hands power over to Fr Dermot Ryan.






	1973

	 

	 

	Dies on April 7 at Loughlinstown Hospital.



































INTRODUCTION


The McQuaid Shadow





Reflecting on the difficulties in writing a biography of any important public figure, the writer, Russell Braddon, observed shrewdly that real people in real life ignore the demands of narrative and plot in a way that no novelist would tolerate in any fictitious character.1 This observation runs aground in regard to the life of Archbishop John Charles McQuaid, whose true life story at times reads like fiction: unlike many people who live shapeless lives, McQuaid had an unshakeable certitude that his path in life, though not without its share of emotional tumult and unexpected directions, was guided by Jesus Christ, whose representative in the succession from the Apostles he was as Archbishop of Dublin and Primate of Ireland. From early in life, John Charles McQuaid believed that he would be a man of divine destiny. More than any other twentieth century churchman, McQuaid could proclaim, ‘Catholic Ireland, I am Catholic Ireland.’


Unlike most people, who throw away their letters, photographs and original documents that provide the straw for the biographer’s bricks, McQuaid kept, with magpie-like diligence, the most extensive archives of any twentieth century figure in Irish public life. Paradoxically, the most secretive of modern Irish prelates kept the most expansive collection of personal records.


Some of the bizarre episodes in McQuaid’s extraordinary life story, many of them recounted for the first time in Ruler of Catholic Ireland, would be dismissed instantly as mere fiction by the defenders of his memory were it not for the fact that either he himself documented their authenticity or they were vouched for by intimates or associates. It is, for example, a draft account of his childhood and youth compiled by the Catholic writer, Mary Purcell, that provides the sources for the death of his mother a week after his birth, the remarriage of his father when he was only a year old and his premature departure from St Patrick’s College, Cavan, when he was fourteen years old. Indeed, it was in response to these findings by Purcell that McQuaid admitted to her that he was indeed unhappy at St Patrick’s and, astonishingly, he alluded to the bestial side of life which he witnessed at the Catholic boarding school run by the local diocesan bishop.2


Further evidence of emotionally erratic school experiences comes from McQuaid’s own pen. He wrote a memoir describing how his father moved him to Clongowes Wood College against his wishes, after he came under the influence of a devout but psychologically unbalanced Holy Ghost Brother, Gaspard O’Reilly, at Blackrock College, Dublin.3 It was McQuaid’s closest friend at Clongowes, Hugo Kerr, a future head of the Redemptorist Order in Ireland, who testified to John Charles’s adolescent rebellion after discovering at the age of sixteen the facts of his mother’s childbirth death and his father’s remarriage. So acute was the alienation that reconciliation was brought about only on condition that Dr Eugene bowed to John Charles’s determination to become a missionary priest of the Holy Ghost Congregation, an ambition kindled by Brother Gaspard.4


It is these dramatic disclosures that constitute the opening chapters of Ruler of Catholic Ireland. McQuaid’s cold public image masked emotional scars from a tragic family background which were to shape his public life. These provide the framework for the relentless quest for respectability which was an integral part of McQuaid’s adolescence and adult life, as well as contributing to his narrow devotionalism and excessive puritanism both as Dean of Studies and President of Blackrock College, and later as Archbishop of Dublin.


The most evocative description of McQuaid was written by his most outspoken political opponent, Dr Nöel Browne. A procession into Dublin’s Pro-Cathedral, Browne noted in his autobiography, Against the Tide, was led by




…the demure child acolytes, the robed clerical students, the imposing shining gilt crucifix carried by its tall student bearer. Scented incense rose from the gently moving thurible. Embroidered vestments glowed, bejewelled, ornate and colourful, on the supporting clergy … at its heart walked the Archbishop of Dublin. A broad white silk shawl covered his frail bent shoulders, falling down on each side to cover his hands, in which he clasped the glinting gold processional monstrance. His dark eyes, glittering in a mask-like face, were transfixed on the shimmering White Host. He had a long, straight, thin nose and a saturnine appearance, with an awesome fixity of expression, and the strong mouth of an obsessional.





As McQuaid passed by, Browne heard the British Ambassador, Sir Gilbert Laithwaite, whispering to him: ‘What an impressive figure, Nöel, would he not make a notable addition to the distinguished company of the Spanish Inquisitors.’5


In a closed society in which the press was non-intrusive, McQuaid was an aloof and distant figure to his flock. Fortunately, for the bar of history, McQuaid left a massive archive. His monument, in the form of over seven hundred densely-packed boxes of papers, is a testimony to a superb administrator. As a professional churchman, not only did he keep files for business efficiency, he also did so, consciously, to provide an unquenchable reservoir of material for historians to assess his place in history.6 Indeed, late in life, after declining an invitation from a distinguished journalist to conduct an interview which he would be allowed to vet before the details of his life and times were chronicled in a series of newspaper articles, he bragged that his archives would provide historians with numerous surprises.


What comes as no surprise, however, is that McQuaid’s voluminous archives confirm that he stands as a giant of twentieth-century Ireland alongside the politician who helped to make him Archbishop of Dublin – Éamon de Valera. A major surprise, however, is how often de Valera, who was universally esteemed as a model Catholic statesman, found himself at loggerheads with a McQuaid often more Roman than Rome. Uncannily, the de Valera-McQuaid relationship has striking parallels with that of King Henry II and Archbishop Thomas à Becket, though in the end the stab in McQuaid’s back came from the Vatican, not from the temporal power. On balance, the willingness of de Valera to stand up to the more extravagant of McQuaid’s theocratic tendencies casts him in a much better light than he appeared in Tim Pat Coogan’s pioneering book, De Valera, Long Fellow, Long Shadow.


Since McQuaid’s death in 1973 no Irish churchman has exercised the enormous spiritual, let alone the almost unbounded temporal power which he exercised for over three decades. As the late John Whyte demonstrated in his classic book, Church-State in Ireland, the political auction to catholicise the independent State was begun by its two founding fathers, W.T. Cosgrave and Éamon de Valera, years before McQuaid’s elevation to the archbishopric of Dublin in 1940. However, Whyte and other church historians have underestimated the extent of the tightness of the grip held over all aspects of Irish life by the Catholic Church in the McQuaid era. Unlike de Valera, the Fine Gael lawyer, John A. Costello, who headed two Inter-Party Governments, put few, if any obstacles in McQuaid’s way when he sought to extend the censorious boundaries of his ecclesiastical jurisdiction into the nation’s bedrooms and libraries.


The McQuaid files show how Costello wholeheartedly accepted an utterly subservient role in 1950–51 when the Hierarchy, led by McQuaid, opposed the Minister for Health, Dr Nöel Browne’s, proposed free, non-means tested scheme for mother and child welfare. Not only was McQuaid briefed by Costello about cabinet discussions, he momentarily assumed the role of Cabinet secretary when he helped draft the Government’s acceptance of the Bishops’ condemnation of ‘Socialised medicine’ – written by McQuaid!


Even the hard-bitten Seán Lemass, who put Ireland on course to the European highway as Taoiseach in the 1960s, was wary of challenging McQuaid’s moral monopoly. Furthermore, Lemass’s successor, Jack Lynch, who talked a lot about a pluralist Ireland, shirked from removing the ban on contraception when McQuaid threatened a curse upon a nation that would legalise condoms. McQuaid’s vast archives reveal him to have been an authoritarian prelate who used fear as an essential instrument for achieving discipline and conformity among his flock. At heart, he was a ‘control freak’. At his palace in Drumcondra on Dublin’s northside, McQuaid built up a highly effective homespun intelligence system that provided him with a constant supply of information about what was happening in Dublin and elsewhere. His agents ranged across all sectors of society and could inform him on the minutest details of Government policy, as well as the private peccadilloes of his clergy, nuns and laity. Across McQuaid’s desk, both in his palace at Drumcondra and in his secluded residence in Killiney with its unsurpassed view overlooking Dublin bay, passed confidential reports from his ‘collaborators’ or ‘helpers’, as he was wont to refer to them, in Government Departments, Dublin Corporation, the medical, legal and teaching professions. Interested in military matters, he had close contacts with the Army and the Garda Síochána, the Irish police force.6


The professional middle class members of the secret organisation known as the Order of the Knights of St. Columbanus, of which he himself was a member, were particularly vigilant on his behalf. Another principal ally was the founder of the Legion of Mary, Frank Duff, who deferred to McQuaid on all aspects of his organisation’s social and spiritual work, especially among delinquents and emigrants. McQuaid’s surveillance of students at University College, Dublin was ensured by the appointment of a ‘thought control’ cleric, Monsignor John Horgan, who, in addition to his academic duties, operated as a kind of undercover agent sending reports to his Episcopal master about the activities of independent-minded chaplains and students. Frequently acting as McQuaid’s hatchet-man in dealing with turbulent priests was the cultivated but pompous Father Cecil Barrett, who was known to his intimates as ‘Balls Barrett’.


For those Irish people over forty years of age, the name John Charles McQuaid still conjures up vivid images of a Counter-Reformation prelate ruling the country with an iron will, secure in his knowledge of the divine will. For today’s go-getting generation he is a figure from a bygone age, far removed from the music of U2, Sinéad O’Connor, the Corrs, Riverdance and Boyzone. For both age groups, however, McQuaid still casts a shadow when the Catholic Church in Ireland is struggling to redefine its identity after a long period of cultural dominance. For the majority, being Irish has ceased to be synonymous with being Roman Catholic. The story of John Charles McQuaid provides ‘the hinge’ which explains his time to us today at the turn of the millennium.


In his story lies the key to understanding the awesome power exercised by the Catholic Church in Ireland in the mid-twentieth century. McQuaid represents both the high point of Catholic power and an index by which to measure the subsequent dramatic decline of the Catholic Church’s influence in society. His story offers a cogent explanation for the


Irish Catholic Church’s loss of status since his death just over a quarter a century ago. Ruler of Catholic Ireland is cast in the form of historical narrative structured in four parts covering his childhood and youth; his training for the priesthood and his years at Blackrock College; his reign as Archbishop from 1940 to the eve of the Second Vatican Council in 1962, and from the Council to his death in 1973. Reconstruction of his life is based on Church and State archival sources, his extensive published writings, newspaper reports, memoirs and interviews with his contemporaries. In addition to a detailed list of these primary sources, the bibliography cited at the end also sets out the secondary sources on which this study is based.


The one interruption from chronological sequence is the latter part of chapter eighteen which draws on an unpublished manuscript by Dr Nöel Browne in which he levels a charge against McQuaid of making sexual advances to a schoolboy. This charge was based on information supplied to Browne by a retired school inspector from the Department of Education at the funeral of Seán MacBride in January 1988.


Browne penned an essay based on this disclosure titled A Virgin Ireland. This exclusive manuscript, which was made available to me by Mrs Phyllis Browne, has been lodged with the Nöel Browne Papers at Trinity College, Dublin. As such, it is an important historical document, especially in the context of understanding the McQuaid-Browne adversarial relationship. However strenuously this manuscript may be disputed by supporters and admirers of the Archbishop, its existence cannot be overlooked in any historical assessment of the repressive climate of the period.


However shocking, Browne’s ‘outing’ of McQuaid needs to be put into the public domain, because it raises fundamental questions about the Archbishop’s attitude towards sexuality. Since McQuaid’s death the stream of revelations about sexual and physical abuse by clergy in church institutions has shown that these evils were an integral part of the Catholic Church of the day. Just when the Irish public was recovering from the sensational disclosures that Bishop Éamonn Casey and Fr Michael Cleary had fathered children, it had to come to terms with the horrendous abuse perpetrated by a number of priests and brothers on children, most notably the late Father Brendan Smyth, the apparent cover-up of whose case contributed to the fall of an Irish Government headed by Albert Reynolds. Within the diocese of Dublin, prominent cases have involved three priests who had served under McQuaid, Fathers Paul Magennis, Ivan Payne and Patrick Hughes.7


Ironically, in 1995, the centenary of McQuaid’s birth, the constitutional ban on divorce which McQuaid had helped de Valera to draft in 1937 was repealed in a referendum. This came after a long ‘moral civil war’ in which the Catholic Bishops failed to prevent the liberalisation of the law governing contraception and the legalisation of homosexuality between consenting adults over the age of eighteen. Meanwhile, abortion has been ruled by the Supreme Court to be legal in certain circumstances. The Catholic Church in Ireland no longer exercises ‘a moral monopoly.’8


Vocations to the priesthood and the religious life have plummeted. Clonliffe College, which was the jewel in McQuaid’s pastoral crown, did not recruit even one student in October 1998, prompting one commentator to advise Archbishop Desmond Connell to sell the college. There has been a steady erosion in weekly Mass-going, and there are signs that many women feel alienated from the institution because of Rome’s refusal to allow them ordination to the priesthood.


Three powerful television documentaries, Dear Daughter, Sex in a Cold Climate and States of Fear,9 highlighting allegations of widespread sexual and physical abuse in religious-run orphanages and reform schools such as Artane and Goldenbridge, have added further to the poor image of the Catholic Church in Ireland. Today Artane Industrial School is the focus of a Garda investigation into allegations against seventy-five Christian Brothers, making it the biggest sex scandal ever in the Irish State. Two other institutions which McQuaid was involved in creating have also been subject to inquiries about abuse allegations. Madonna House, which was subject to a Government inquiry in 1995 into cases of child abuse, was opened by McQuaid in 1955, and assigned by him to the Sisters of Charity for the care of children whose mothers were ill. St Laurence’s Remand Home in Finglas, which McQuaid persuaded Lemass to build to ‘straighten the crooked souls’ of boys, has also been the subject of Garda investigations into alleged abuse by the de la Salle Brothers. The storm of public indignation which followed the screening of States of Fear led to the announcement by the Irish Government of the establishment of a Commission on Childhood Abuse.10


The opening of McQuaid’s archives has sparked off a major national debate about the respective roles of Church and State in his day. While it would be absurd to place all the blame on McQuaid, it is clear that the highly clericalist system over which he presided left his successors defenceless in the face of a more critical and educated laity. It is of crucial importance that this debate should be conducted on an informed basis.11 Ruler of Catholic Ireland aims to situate that debate in its historical context. Primarily, it is the remarkable story of a boy of obscure origins who rose to the highest position of authority in the Irish Catholic Church, which enabled him to exercise personal power over a nation whose political, administrative and professional classes vied with one another for his favour.




Notes


1 Russell Braddon in his introduction to Roy Thomson of Fleet Street.


2 Purcell Manuscript in the McQuaid Papers, DDA.


3 Memoir on Life of Brother Gaspard O’Reilly, in the McQuaid Papers, DDA.


4 Conspectus Vitae of Hugo Kerr C.SS.R., Redemptorist Archives.


5 Nöel Browne, Against the Tide, p. 151.


6 John Cooney, ‘McQuaid’s Shadow’, The Irish Times Weekend, April 4, 1998.


7 ‘McQuaid told of priest’s indecent pictures’ was a headline in The Irish Times, July 4, 1997, in regard to Fr Magennis, who was convicted for indecently assaulting a 13-year-old girl in a hospital bed while chaplain to Our Lady’s Hospital for Sick Children in Crumlin in 1960. That same day, McQuaid’s photograph appeared on the front page of the Evening Herald under the headline: ‘Victim tells of how ordeal was hushed up by Archbishop – My Abuse Hell.’


8 An indicator of the changing times in Ireland is that the first edition in 1986 of Moral Monopoly by Tom Inglis carried a cover photograph of personnel attending the New Ireland Forum, while the second edition in 1998 highlights a picture of de Valera kissing McQuaid’s ring: This reflects a reassessment of McQuaid’s influence.


9 The programme disclosed that in 1962 McQuaid was deeply unhappy about the management of Artane Industrial School by the Christian Brothers. The Archbishop’s dissatisfaction was reported by the chaplain to Artane, Fr Henry Moore, when interviewed by an Inter-Departmental Government Committee on the Prevention of Crime and Treatment of Offenders. I am grateful to the RTÉ producer, Mary Raftery, for this reference. The section of the Dublin Diocesan Archives relating to Artane and Goldenbridge has not yet been made available to researchers.


10 The Commission’s terms of reference are to give victims an opportunity to tell of the abuse that they suffered; to establish a complete picture of the causes and nature of abuse in state-funded institutions since the 1940s; to employ specialists, and to publish its findings and recommendations. For a critique of the Commission’s terms of reference, see Padraig Ó Móráin, ‘Plan to help abused children falls short’, The Irish Times, May 12, 1999.


11 In the Irish Independent on September 4, 1999, Bruce Arnold called for an investigation into the role of the Catholic Church as an institution within the Irish State.






















PART I


MAKING OF A MILITANT – EDUCATION TO PRIESTHOOD 1895–1925
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Faith of his Fathers


1895–1910







‘McQuaid was a native of Cootehill in Co. Cavan and carried to Dublin with him the antagonisms of that border area.’


León Ó Broin, in All our Yesterdays.





John Charles Joseph McQuaid was born in the Co. Cavan market town of Cootehill on July 28, 1895. On the following day he was brought to the church of St Michael the Archangel, where he was christened at the large stone baptismal font. A hand-written entry in the Kilmore diocesan registry records that the witnesses were his uncle, Patrick McQuaid, a farmer, and his grandmother, Mary McQuaid.1 He was named John after his grandfather, a leather salesman who had died in 1893.2 The notifier of birth both as father and as registrar was Dr Eugene McQuaid J.P. A week after the joyous signing of his first son’s birth certificate, Dr Eugene, acting in his position as Coroner for East Cavan, signed the death certificate of his 22-year-old wife, Jennie.


The marriage, only 20 months earlier, of the highly eligible doctor to the granddaughter of the town’s popular postmistress, Jane Corry, had been the talk of Cootehill. The local newspaper, the Anglo-Celt, reported that Dr Eugene and his ‘fascinating’ bride, newly returned from their honeymoon, were ‘the cynosure of many eyes’ at the Christmas 1893 charity concert as they were ‘highly esteemed and respected members of the community.’3 Their first child, Helena Maria Josephine, was born in August 1894. Soon afterwards Jennie was pregnant again, and made her last public appearance with her husband at a Percy French concert in April 1895. Her death on August 5 stunned the people of the town and surrounding countryside, who came in large numbers to her wake in the modest two-storey McQuaid house in Market St. At the funeral Mass in St Michael’s Church the parish priest, Fr Thomas Brady, described Jennie’s life as ‘saintly’, and as the coffin was carried to Middle Chapel graveyard a few miles outside the town, all the shops and homes in Cootehill closed their shutters and the townspeople filed behind the hearse. Dr Eugene was consoled by his older brother, Dr Matthew McQuaid, the medical officer of Ballyjamesduff, as Jennie was laid in the grave.


Notably, only the sparsest details of the life of Jennie Corry, for whom a town of 1200 residents turned out to pay their last respects, were given in the newspaper coverage of her funeral.4 On the Corry side, the chief mourners were her grandmother, Jane, a sister, Mabel, and an uncle, James Corry, who was the manager of the Ulster Bank in Tuam, Co. Galway. Widowed early in life, Jane was successful in business, firstly as a grocer and later as postmistress. Her outgoing personality made her friends in every social rank and she was a great benefactress to the church, having endowed St Michael’s. Missing from the list of mourners was any mention of Jennie’s mother and father.5


The world into which John McQuaid was born was one in which Queen Victoria’s Empire dominated a globe that even included the whole of Ireland. The Conservative and Unionist party, led by Lord Salisbury, had just been returned to power on a wave of imperialist jingoism in England, and though these sentiments were not shared in Ireland, Scotland and Wales, the Government enjoyed a sufficiently commanding majority in the House of Commons to re-launch its policy of ‘killing Home Rule by kindness’.


As the century drew to a close, the people of Ulster were anchored in ancient sectarian feuds. The year 1895 was one of competing centennial celebrations. For Protestants it was the 100th anniversary of the Orange Order, whose Lodges restricted membership to ‘those born and brought up in the Reformed Religion’. Only a few weeks before John’s birth, Cootehill’s Orangemen were especially vigorous practising at their headquarters in Dawson Hall for their annual parade on ‘the Twelfth’, to commemorate the victory of the Dutch Protestant, King William of Orange, over the Catholic Englishman, King James II, at the Battle of the Boyne in 1690. The beating of their Lambeg drums was particularly loud that year: Ulster Protestants feared the growing power of the Catholic Church, which, since its emancipation from centuries of penal laws in 1829, was building churches, convents and schools at an unprecedented rate throughout the land.


For Catholics, 1895 was the centenary of St Patrick’s College, Maynooth, a national seminary set up to train young men for the priesthood. In June, what writer Michael McCarthy described as ‘a clerical army’, consisting of a cardinal, three Archbishops, 25 bishops, two mitred abbots and some 3,000 priests and 600 students, assembled at Maynooth. Articulating the new triumphalist mood of the Catholic Church, the Cardinal Archbishop of Armagh, Michael Logue, declared: ‘We shall never be satisfied until every tower and turret is built and every chair is established that will make the Irish Church what it should be, and what it will be, please God, in our own times.’6


If Cootehill, the second largest town on the north-east tip of Co. Cavan, belonged to the Orange Order on July 12, it was taken over on August 15 by the Ancient Order of Hibernians. Founded as a Catholic Friendly Society in 1884, the AOH effectively formed the socio-religious wing of the Irish Parliamentary Party, which had split in 1890 after Parnell’s mistress, Kitty O’Shea, divorced her husband, a member of the Home Rule Party.7 Apart from these two marching days, relations between Protestants and Catholics in Cootehill were marked by a spirit of neighbourliness, outwardly at any rate. Beneath the surface, the Protestant gentry and commercial elite feared an erosion of the social supremacy which they had enjoyed since Cromwellian times. On the authority of the Lord Protector, Oliver Cromwell, the estate of the local Gaelic and Catholic chieftain, an O’Reilly, was transferred to Thomas Coote, who married Frances Hill of Hillsborough, Co. Down. Muinchille – literally ‘the sleeve of the O’Reillys’ – became Cootehill, which later generations of the family, ennobled as the Earls of Bellamont, developed into a prosperous market town under Royal Charter.


A prominent member of the town’s rising Catholic middle class, Dr Eugene McQuaid was the assistant to the Medical Officer for the Cootehill Union, Dr Thomas Hamilton Moorehead. Educated at Trinity College, Dublin, and listed in Slater’s Directory as a member of the gentry, Moorehead’s father had owned the property rented by Dr Eugene’s father, ‘Honest John’ McQuaid. Working with a Protestant posed no religious scruples for Dr Eugene, who had trained at the Royal College of Surgeons in Dublin. Interested in astronomy, politics and horse-racing – he owned a horse, Scarlet Runner – Dr Eugene enjoyed socialising with the Protestant upper class.8


A widower at 35, Dr Eugene was forced to take stock. He turned to his mother and his sister, Annie, for help in rearing his two children. ‘The tall and stately’ Mary McQuaid was too old to take on this responsibility and Annie was planning to emigrate to America, so a local girl, Bridget Foy, was employed as a domestic to rear Helen and John.9 The McQuaid and Corry families urged Dr Eugene to remarry.


Fourteen months after Jennie’s death, a notice appeared in the columns of the Dublin and Cavan press. ‘September 30, 1896, at St Joseph’s Church, Terenure, Dublin … Dr Eugene McQuaid, J.P., Cootehill, to Agnes, daughter of Thomas Mayne, Esq, Cremorne, Terenure, Co. Dublin.’ A discreet trailer requested ‘no cards’. While this diffidence might have been a social courtesy to the Corry family, there was a further complication. The wedding certificate carries the addendum: ‘Dispensation received from Monsignor FitzPatrick, Vicar General.’ Normally, this was indicative of a mixed marriage, but as Agnes was a Catholic, there may have been an impediment on Eugene’s side which needed to be waived by the Church authorities.10


Agnes was a sophisticated and well-travelled woman. Her parents, Thomas and Susanna Mayne, owned Cremorne House, a stylish residence in Dublin’s Terenure. Her father was an Alderman of Dublin Corporation and a confirmed Parnellite who had sat, in Westminster, as an Irish Party M.P. for Tipperary. Agnes lived in Chicago for a time, where she helped her sister, Annie, organise the 1893 Irish Pavilion at the World Fair. An accomplished musician, she played piano at the recitals given there by Miss Josephine Sullivan, the celebrated harpist and daughter of A.M. Sullivan, whose book The Story of Ireland was the bible of patriotism for that generation. Interested in literature, Agnes had become friendly in Chicago with the writer, Carmel Snow, and she loved to reminisce about the time she met the famous Bill Cody, ‘Buffalo Bill’.11


A few years after her return to Dublin, Agnes was introduced to Eugene McQuaid at a doctors’ party by a cousin who was on the staff of the Mater Hospital.12 Adjusting to provincial life was not easy for her at first. She attended the Christmas Coal Concert for the poor, at which she played the piano and sang, as did Jennie’s sister, Mabel, while Dr Eugene took part in the Percy French farce, Borrowed Plumes. According to local tradition, Agnes came with a sizable dowry which enabled Dr Eugene to buy the parochial house at Court View, after Fr Brady’s death in March 1897. This purchase enabled Dr Eugene to take a considerable leap up the social ladder. Court View, which now forms part of the White Horse Hotel, was one of the finest buildings in the town, deriving its name from the court house directly across the street. The McQuaids’ neighbour to the rear was owner of the Bellamont Estate, the Ampleforth College-educated, Captain Edward Smith, who had inherited a family fortune from coal mines in England. Their neighbour to the left was the Church of Ireland Rector, Mr Plummer, whose Tudor-style church stood guard at the foot of Main Street as the symbol of the Protestant Ascendancy.


Agnes hung Jennie’s sketches in the drawing-room when they settled into their new home. Dr Eugene inherited a well-stocked library from Fr Brady, a Maynooth-educated priest who had written pious pamphlets about Faith and Fatherland under the nom de plume of Missionary Priest.13 The doctor’s medical and astronomical volumes and Agnes’s literary and travel books were added to Fr Brady’s religious tomes. John and his sister, Helen, grew up loving books, and the music and stories from Irish folklore which their stepmother, Agnes, taught them.


From time to time Dr Eugene took Helen and John to see their great-grandmother, Jane Corry. The children were too young to remember her before her dreadful death from cancer and delirium in November 1897 in the fever hospital attached to the workhouse.14 However, the Anglo-Celt reported that wreaths were sent from ‘Leeney and Charley’. Jane’s Protestant origins were recalled at her funeral. ‘Her holy faith, a divine gift bestowed when reason was mature’ had inspired her in ‘a life of unostentatious piety’.15


John’s first memory was of being taken for walks, in 1898, with his sister in the nearby Bellamont forest by their nanny, Brigid Foy. He could recall the stream that ran down the hill past their home, and how ‘We peopled that stream with our fancies. I distinctly remember the sough of the wind on a frosty December night in the pine trees. I thought it was Santa Claus making ready for Christmas.’16


The Christmas present for John and Helen that year was the arrival of the first child of Eugene and Agnes, a girl called Eugenia (or Deenie) after Dr Eugene’s sister, Eugenia Connolly, who had died in 1893. When Eugenia’s husband, John, died suddenly, Dr Eugene and Agnes adopted the Connolly children, Paul and Mary, and brought them up as McQuaids in a household which was growing rapidly with the births of Eugene Ward, known as Dean, in 1899, Marie in 1901, Thomas Mayne in 1902 and Matthew Joseph in 1907.17


In 1900 John began attending the National School in Station Rd, a bleak two-storey building which housed the boys in the basement and the girls on the ground floor. Evidence from contemporaries indicate that he was introspective – ‘a tarribly quiet fella’ – and bookish.18 As he was precocious academically, his father arranged for him to be tutored in Latin and Greek by the local Presbyterian minister, the Rev. William Montford Henry. It was during his visits to the manse that John acquired a love of Cicero, Virgil and Homer.19 From the age of nine, he wrote plays.


His early boyhood friend was Eric Dorman-Smith, later to become famous in the British Army during the Second World War as Brigadier Dorman O’Gowan, and immortalised by Ernest Hemingway as Chink. John was a regular visitor to Eric’s home, Bellamont House, an elegant red baroque building overlooking the lakes and trees of the estate. John spent hours in the library there, reading the Arthurian legends, Wars of the Eighteenth Century and the Illustrated London News with its gory drawings of the Boer War battlefields of Spion Kop and Buller, in which Eric’s father, Edward, had fought. Among the volumes were books by Lewis Carroll, Charles Dickens, Tennyson, Sir Walter Scott, Conan Doyle, Jules Verne, William Thackeray, Rudyard Kipling and Rider Haggard.20 The military and chivalric codes seeped through Bellamont and made a huge impression on John.


Outdoors, John and Eric swam, fished for pike and boated on the lakes, went for long walks along the River Annalee and became first-class riflemen shooting woodcock, partridge and snipe in the Bellamont and Dartrey woodlands. ‘The bark of a fox, the call of a cock pheasant, the great thrashing, splashing descent of a swan onto the water, the flutter of wild duck in the reeds, occasional woodcock,’ Eric later recalled. ‘We were stoutly shod and not minding the rain. Dogs and laughter, and the knowledge that on the hill behind stood a dignified redbrick house which could be cosy in its strength, and log-fires and lamplight and teas – such teas. Every believable kind of bread, far better bread than cake, barmbrack, soda cake, potato cakes, honey, home-made jam.’21 Bellamont gave John McQuaid a taste for well-blended tea and scones.


If Eric imagined himself as a descendant of the Gaelic leader, Hugh O’Gowan, who came to Cootehill after losing to the English Elizabethan forces under the Great Hugh O’Neill, so John could claim (with justification) lineage from the Gaelic O’Reilly clan, and kinship with leaders of the Catholic Church in its darkest days of persecution and with the Wild Geese who fought for the King of Spain. These claims were vindicated in a parchment drawn up by his great granduncle Fr Matthew McQuaid, in 1852.


One hundred years before John’s birth, his great-great-grandfather, Patrick McQuaid, from the Newbliss area of Monaghan, had married Lucy O’Reilly and inherited the family’s farm at Lisduagh. An O’Reilly chart, dating back to the year 1700, revealed bonds of marriage between O’Reillys and MacMahons that linked John to three Archbishops of Armagh and Primates of All Ireland – Hugh, Bernard and Ross MacMahon. It also unveiled a complex web of family links which included a Bishop of Derry, Michael O’Reilly, and a Bishop of Raphoe, Philip O’Reilly. John could claim ancestors who kept the faith alive in Ulster.


The second family document, dated 1852, claimed that the McQuaids were rightfully entitled to a vast sum of money left by a member of the O’Reilly clan who had lived at Pamplona and served as a soldier in the pay of the King of Spain. By chance, after seeing a notice about the fortune published in The Nation, Fr Matthew claimed it for his mother, Lucy, as the only living grandchild of Charles O’Reilly from Lisduagh and Mary Ward from Co. Monaghan. But despite the McQuaid family’s persistence, Fr Matthew failed to persuade the Spanish authorities to part with ‘the O’Reilly gold’.22


Crouched in the east of a county renowned for its tumbled hills and awash with lakes, Cootehill lies on a plain 68 miles, north, north-west of Dublin. The produce of the surrounding countryside was sold on its streets and farmers gathered around the Green and Chapel Lane to buy and sell cattle. Bleeders – professional butchers – slaughtered pigs each week in the Market Hall, and there were seasonal hiring fairs at which farmers recruited young boys and girls for farm work and domestic service. The town’s 80 shops, 19 of them draperies, did a brisk trade and the Ulster and Provincial banks competed for the business of the farming, professional, mercantile and trading classes. What had once been Jane Corry’s post office provided an excellent mail service. The Bellamont Arms and the White Horse Hotel were thriving county inns, and provided commercial travellers with horse-drawn broughams to the railway which joined the Great Northern line at Ballybay just inside the Monaghan border. Cootehill looked beyond its own horizons to Belfast and Glasgow rather than to Dublin.23 As for the rest of the world, Cootehill was immortalised by Percy French in his song, Come Back Paddy Reilly to Ballyjamesduff, with its advice to ‘turn to the left at the Bridge of Finea, And stop when half-way to Cootehill.’


John loved to accompany his father, Dr Eugene, on his medical rounds. As was the case with boys at that time, John was often beaten harshly by his father,24 though such ill-treatment, rather than causing alienation, made him even more attached. John came to know every byroad and boreen as he travelled the district with his father.25 At first hand he saw the horrors of poverty and the stigma attached to the Poor Law system, with its black tickets to allow a sick person attend the doctor at the dispensary, and red tickets – called scarlet runners – entitling the sick person to a visit at home.26


As medical advisor to the local council, Dr Eugene drew up reports on housing and sanitation and together with Dr Moorehead campaigned to improve the conditions of the local workhouse. Their campaign brought them into conflict with the Board of Guardians, whose chairman, John Primrose, was a prominent worthy in the Orange Order. A deputation from the British Medical Journal subsequently visited the area to investigate conditions in the workhouse, and reported that it housed lunatics as well as destitutes, that the milk was sour and sometimes mixed with paraffin oil.27


Dr Eugene was also a Justice of the Peace under the British Crown and built up a reputation as a severe man, not unknown to demand that offenders promise to give up drink, which he considered a root cause of their social degradation. Yet despite his social status, he found it a struggle to rear and educate his own family. Deenie recalled her mother complaining one evening about the rather shabby curtains in the drawing-room. ‘Agnes,’ Dr Eugene shouted, ‘Do you want to put us all in the workhouse?’ Terrified, the younger children ran into the garden and cried. ‘We were not well off,’ the teacher’s son, Jim Fitzsimons, recalled, ‘but I got two new suits for every one John McQuaid did.’28


Another of Dr Eugene’s duties was to attend the nuns in the Convent of Mercy, which his cousin, Sister Joseph, had co-founded in 1880. John often accompanied him to the huge four-storey building which towered over Cootehill and the surrounding countryside. The convent had 40 large rooms including two bathrooms and six toilets with wash handbasins, as well as an elegant staircase. Every room had an ornamental fireplace and was well-furnished. Sister Joseph was a model figure of the ideal nun for the impressionable young John McQuaid.29


Each Sunday Dr Eugene and Agnes escorted the family to Mass and Benediction in St Michael’s, where they paid one penny for a place in the better part of the chapel, in contrast to the halfpenny area where the poorer Catholics congregated. Dr Eugene’s relations with the new parish priest, Fr Patrick O’Connell, an advanced nationalist, were strained, however.30 O’Connell supported the Gaelic League, begun by a West of Ireland Protestant, Dr Douglas Hyde, when it opened up a branch in Cootehill. Although from 1900 the rival wings of nationalism had come together to form a reunited party under the leadership of MPs John Redmond and John Dillon with the extra-parliamentary support of the United Irish League, O’Connell supported the writers, Arthur Griffith and William Rooney, who founded Sinn Féin, a separatist party based on the nationalist philosophy, ‘ourselves alone’.


A Vicar General of the diocese, O’Connell was believed locally to have been miffed at Dr Eugene’s purchase of Fr Brady’s house. He built a splendid parochial house on a hill overlooking an entry road to Cootehill, signalling that Catholicism in Cootehill was challenging the Protestant social dominance.31 At catechism class O’Connell did not spare the cane. He was quick to chastise young people caught ‘company-keeping’, His anger was also directed at the proselytism of the Plymouth Brethren, known as the Dippers for their practice of baptising converts, especially women, in the Diamore River, where one December an 80-year-old man nearly drowned.32


From 1902 the Anglo-Celt published articles in Irish and gave prominence to Gaelic League news. Dr Eugene arranged for John to learn Irish. An upstairs loft in a terraced house was the makeshift venue for his Irish tuition from a travelling language teacher. Although McQuaid never learned Irish as well as he was to master the Classics and French, he spoke the Ulster Irish dialect competently.33 Unlike many of his school friends, John was not interested in the Gaelic football club, Cootehill Celtic.


When John finished national school in 1905, his report was outstanding. ‘The most intelligent boy I ever taught,’ schoolmaster Fitzsimons wrote. ‘His ability to assimilate knowledge was a revelation. With such intellectual attainments this boy will have a brilliant scholastic career and will rise to great heights in whatever profession he adopts.’34


St Patrick’s College, Cavan


Dr Eugene decided to send John to St Patrick’s College in Cavan, originally the diocesan seminary for the training of boys for the priesthood, but now a diocesan school for the sons of the post-Emancipation Catholic middle class, with a catchment area covering Cavan, and parts of Leitrim, Fermanagh, Meath and Sligo. Two personal reasons influenced this choice: Dr Eugene’s granduncle, Fr Matthew, had been the first President of St Augustine’s College, the forerunner of St Patrick’s; and Dr Eugene’s brother, Dr Matthew McQuaid, had worked there before taking up his post in Ballyjamesduff. In September, a few weeks after his tenth birthday, John left Cootehill on the 16-mile journey by pony-and-trap to St Patrick’s, an imposing but bleak Gothic-imitation building, situated beside the Bishop of Kilmore’s residence on the Cullies estate on the outskirts of Cavan town. His leaving home was accompanied by tears. ‘We were so lonely for him. We were a happy, united, very affectionate family, but we loved him most of all,’ his oldest half-sister, Deenie, recalled.35


St Patrick’s was as cut off from the commercial life of Cavan as Bellamont was from the daily routine of Cootehill. A distinctively ecclesiastical atmosphere filled its corridors and rooms. A portrait of Cardinal Paul Cullen, who had laid the first stone of the college in 1871, dominated the dining-room. Looking down on the boys, too, was Bishop Nicholas Conaty, an ultramontane ally of Cullen’s at the First Vatican Council which proclaimed the doctrine of Papal infallibility in 1870. There was also a portrait of great-grand-uncle Fr Matthew McQuaid, a notable figure in the diocese of Kilmore not only as president of the first diocesan seminary and contributor to The Nation journal founded by the Protestant Young Irelander, Thomas Davis, but also as the theologian to Bishop James Browne at the Synod of Drogheda in 1854. Colleges like St Patrick’s were regarded as a key feature of diocesan revival, and John took pride in how Fr Matthew’s brother, Fr Eugene McQuaid, also a Kilmore priest, died administering the sacraments to the poor in the Famine of 1847.36


By today’s standards, life in St Patrick’s was spartan, even inhumane. Except on Sunday, when the boys could sleep until 7am, the bell for rising was at six. However, a contemporary, James Galligan, recalled that, because John was so young, he was allowed to sleep until seven in his first year.37 In winter students went to bed at 9.30pm, by candlelight. The prefect in charge of the lights – called ‘Blow’ – went around the corridors to make sure that all candles were out.38 Often homesick and ill, John looked forward to the visits from Dr Eugene, Agnes and the other McQuaid children. ‘Whenever our parents piled as many of us as could fit into the trap and took us to visit him in Cavan, we cried all the way home,’ Deenie recalled.39


During John’s five years at St Patrick’s major changes in Rome began to alter the character of Irish Catholicism. In 1905, Pope Pius X, who had succeeded Pope Leo XIII, introduced frequent and early Communion for children. Two years later he condemned Modernism as ‘the meeting place of all heresies’, and in 1908 he promulgated the Ne Temere decree requiring the Protestant partner in a mixed marriage to give a written promise to raise the children as Catholics.40 Ireland, too, was changing under the influence of Asquith’s Liberal Government, which introduced social welfare reforms and with the support of John Redmond’s revamped Irish Parliamentary Party committed itself to legislating for Home Rule in Ireland.


In 1910 John returned to Cootehill before completing his final year at St Patrick’s. He was extremely unwell. Two reasons were offered for his hasty departure from the college. The first was that he was so poor at mathematics that his parents were anxious to improve his grades elsewhere, but while it was true that he was weak at the subject and it was taught badly at St Patrick’s, this hardly accounted for such a deterioration in his health. The second reason given was that he was expelled for smoking; this smacks, literally, of ‘a smokescreen’.41


A boy who only missed school two days in five years when he was at National School in Cootehill from 1900 to 1905 became so physically ill that he could not finish the college course in 1910. Something untoward had happened to John McQuaid during his period at St Patrick’s. He had suffered a serious breakdown in his physical health and emotional outlook. Miss Elizabeth Dempsey of Cootehill recalled that Agnes went to Cavan and brought John home. ‘He was in a terrible condition when he came home but after a while he was returned to health and enjoyed the summer in Cootehill.’42


‘I was not happy there,’ McQuaid confided to the writer Mary Purcell shortly before his death. ‘If I were to record the barbarities practised in most boys’ boarding schools at that time, I might fly this country.’43 His comments suggest that he witnessed – and perhaps experienced – physical or sexual abuse. The regime at St Patrick’s was harsh, as in other boarding schools, and the prevalence in Britain and Ireland between 1880 and 1914 of what is now known as child sex abuse has been documented by the Christian Brother and historian, Brother Barry Coldrey.44


Though John had spent five years at St Patrick’s,45 Dr Eugene and Agnes decided that he needed further secondary schooling. They were attracted by an advertisement publicising Blackrock College, not only for its educational excellence but also for its location overlooking Dublin Bay where, the prospectus boasted, ‘the students can bathe with perfect safety’. The brochure also explained, in terms which might have persuaded his parents that John would be safe from whatever ‘barbarities’ he had experienced in St Patrick’s, that ‘each student has his private room and can enjoy every educational and social advantage at a safe distance from the dangers of city life’. However, as Dr Eugene and Agnes were to discover, Blackrock College was to produce another emotional upheaval for their teenage son, when he fell under the influence of an elderly Holy Ghost Brother known for his devotional extremism.




Notes


1 John McQuaid’s baptismal record in the genealogical centre in Cavan pours cold water on the pious story that ‘during his Christening ceremony his mother’s coffin rested on the catafalque in front of the altar’ as told by M. Clare Crowe in Sisters of Mercy, Kilmore. The exact cause of Jennie’s death on August 5, 1895, cannot be ascertained as her death certificate has not been traced.


2 John McQuaid is listed in Slater’s Directory for 1856 as one of five Cootehill residents in the leather trade. One of John’s brothers, William, studied medicine, but there is no record of his having practised: the family’s medical dynasty effectively began with Drs Matt and Eugene.


3 Quoted in Purcell Manuscript, DDA. This is a history of McQuaid’s early life which the writer, Mary Purcell, was compiling before his death.


4 According to the Anglo-Celt, August 10, 1895, Jennie was highly cultivated and endowed with the social graces, but she was also meek, gentle and retiring, ‘finding her greatest happiness with her own by whom she was idolised.’


5 Ibid.


6 Quoted in Michael McCarthy, Priests and People, p. 92.


7 The Bishop of Kilmore, Edward Magennis, told Rome that Cavan was ‘practically solid’ against Parnell. ‘An eloquent preacher and an able administrator,’ Magennis ‘disliked publicity in any form and lived to work unostentatiously for faith and fatherland,’ according to Bernard Canning, Bishops of Ireland, 1870–1987, p. 138.


8 According to Cavan folklore, Dr Eugene was not known for his piety.


9 Information from Aidan Boyle and Terry Molloy, Cootehill.


10 Record from registry of St Joseph’s Church, Terenure. I am grateful to the parish priest, Mgr John Greehy, for this reference. Parochial records of marriage dispensations have not been kept in the DDA. Agnes’s father, Thomas, attended the Catholic University, Dublin.


11 Obituary of Agnes McQuaid, Irish Press, February 24, 1964; Catholic Standard, February 28, 1964.


12 Purcell Manuscript, p. 4.


13 Fr Brady’s obituarist in the Anglo-Celt, March 27, 1897, wrote: ‘Great was his love for the island of saints and scholars, the land of Saint Patrick and Saint Brigid, the country of missionary priests and holy nuns.’ The Cootehill area abounded in Catholic folklore: the site of a house in Drumgill in the neighbouring parish of Kill was reputed to have been one of the hiding places of the seventeenth-century martyred Archbishop of Armagh, Oliver Plunkett, who was canonised in 1975.


14 Jane Corry, death certificate, Lombard Street, Dublin. Her death on November 17, 1897, was witnessed by the official in charge of the Workhouse, Thomas Connolly, and was signed by Dr Eugene. Her treatment included ‘amputation eight days, delirium six days.’


15 Anglo-Celt, November 12, 1897. This Protestant background in his family genealogy was not acknowledged by John McQuaid. However, Purcell was adamant that Jane Corry was ‘a convert from Protestantism’ (p. 7).


16 Purcell Manuscript, DDA, p. 5.


17 Agnes also had a child which died in infancy (Purcell, p. 5). She employed a governess, Jennie McMahon.


18 Pat Smith is quoted in Purcell Manuscript, p. 7. Veronica Blessing, whose mother, Mary Jane McCudden, went to school with Jennie Corry, remembered John as a distant, aloof figure. John Rice, who was friendly with young Matt McQuaid, spoke of John as detached. A cousin, Orla O’Brien, was reputed to have been the only girl given a kiss by John. Author’s interviews with Veronica Blessing, John Rice and Diarmuid Teevan took place in 1995.


19 From Co. Armagh and educated at Knox College, in Toronto, Canada, Henry was respected not only in his own congregation but by the entire community, according to his obituary in The Missionary Herald, April, 1929. I am grateful to the Assistant Secretary of the Presbyterian Historical Society of Ireland, Robert H. Bonar, for a copy.


20 Lavinia Greacen, Chink, p. 10.


21 Ibid, p. 14.


22 Francis J. MacKiernan, ‘The O’Reillys and MacQuaids of Lisdoagh,’ Breifne, 1991, Vol. VIII, No. 2.


23 For this reconstruction of life in Cootehill I am indebted to Hugh O’Brien, author of The Celtics of the GAA Cootehill and St Michael’s Cootehill.


24 Confidential medical source to author.


25 In the 1960s seminarian Seán Brady, from Drumcalpin in the parish of Laragh, met Archbishop McQuaid at the Irish College in Rome, and suggested to His Grace that he would have forgotten the names of the Cavan townlands. ‘I have forgotten nothing,’ McQuaid replied to the future Archbishop of Armagh. Quoted by Patsy McGarry in The Irish Times, April 27, 1998.


26 For a description of the dispensary system, see Ruth Barrington, Health, Medicine and Politics in Ireland, 1900–1970, p. 134.


27 Purcell Manuscript, p. 6.


28 Ibid, p. 7. Dr Eugene dealt severely with ‘land-grabbing, murder and horn-blowing.’


29 M. Clare Crowe in Sisters of Mercy, Kilmore, pp. 126–46.


30 Mrs Eileen Maloney, née Finlay, recalls how Fr O’Connell ‘went so far as to pass Agnes McQuaid at the altar when she went to receive Holy Communion – this showed the bitterness that existed in Cootehill in those years.’ Maloney to author, February 23, 1998. The conflict with Fr O’Connell was confirmed by John Rice’s recollection of Matt McQuaid being taken out of national school by Dr Eugene.


31 For profiles of Fr Patrick O’Connell, see Hugh O’Brien, St Michael’s Cootehill, pp. 32–55 and Bishop Francis J. MacKiernan, Diocese of Kilmore, Bishops and Priests, 1136–1988, Breifne Historical Society, p. 724.


32 Purcell Manuscript, DDA, p. 8. Apart from the Church of Ireland, Cootehill numbered places of worship for Presbyterians, Methodists, Moravians and Quakers.


33 T.K. Whitaker interview with author.


34 The diary extract was quoted widely in newspapers at the time of McQuaid’s appointment to Dublin in 1940. Purcell writes that Fitzsimons inserted in the school register ‘a boy of remarkable promise’ after McQuaid’s name.


35 Purcell Manuscript, DDA, p. 8.


36 Margaret Cusack, The Life of the Most Rev. Joseph Dixon, pp. 253–360. The Drogheda Synod, which shaped the Catholic environment in which John McQuaid grew up, recommended that sound moral and religious education was the best way to combat Protestant proselytism. See also article by James Kelly, ‘The Formation of the Modern Catholic Church in the Diocese of Kilmore 1580–1880,’ in Cavan, edited by Raymond Gillespie. John would have revered Fr Eugene as a martyr for the priesthood, and he would have heard the stories of how Fr Matt denounced an eviction in Kill. ‘It is not enough to drive out the mother and children like a parcel of swine on a stormy night,’ he bewailed, ‘Nor enough to tumble their cabin, wound their feelings and see their tears; but some of these monsters grinned at their victims’ decrepitude.’


37 Purcell Manuscript, p. 8. He was enrolled as Charles McQuaid. According to Dr Paul McQuaid, he went to Cavan on a McQuaid bursary. A fellow boarder, James Galligan, often cut his hair.


38 Daniel Gallogly, St Patrick’s College, Cavan.


39 Purcell Manuscript, p. 8.


40 An intellectual reign of terror was established by Pius X through the secret ‘thought police’ run by Monsignor Humberto Benigni, which Christopher Hollis compared to Dostoevski’s Grand Inquisitor and Lenin’s dreaded Cheka, or secret police, in Bolshevist Russia. For vivid reconstructions of the new climate of fear brought about in Irish provincial Catholicism by the campaigns against Modernism and mixed marriages, read Gerald O’Donovan’s novels, Father Ralph and Waiting.


41 ‘The yarn that he was expelled for smoking has no basis whatsoever,’ Purcell wrote, p. 8.


42 Interview with Miss Dempsey, April, 1995.


43 Purcell Manuscript, p. 8.


44 Coldrey, Studies, Vol. 85, No. 340.


45 St Patrick’s College Registers state that John McQuaid was a student there from September 1905 until June 1910. Letter from Bishop Francis MacKiernan to author.
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‘A priest? I thought so.’


Brother Gaspard to John McQuaid.





On a wet autumn evening in October 1910, John McQuaid raced around the corner of the billiards room in Blackrock College and collided with an old man. ‘I have been anxious to meet you,’ the stranger said to the startled teenager. ‘God expects great things from you. Correspond with your present grace; that is all that is in your power – and be devout to Our Lady.’ This unexpected encounter had a profound effect. ‘I was astonished,’ the 15-year-old later wrote. ‘I had no remembrance of having ever met the man before and could not rid myself of the impression made on me. I distinctly remember the joy I felt that evening at Benediction, as I recalled his words.’1


This was John’s introduction to the saintly but eccentric Brother Gaspard O’Reilly. Born John O’Reilly in Ballymughe, near Ardagh in Co. Cavan, he had joined the Holy Ghost Congregation in 1869, and on professing his vows as a Brother two years later took the religious name of Gaspard. Assigned to the bakery at Blackrock College, he proved to be so good that he was still there 45 years later.2


John’s second meeting with Gaspard, outside the bakehouse, was an anticlimax. When John told Gaspard that he had been thinking over what he had said and had reached the conclusion that he wanted to enter the religious life, the Brother replied off-handedly, ‘Oh, don’t bother about that,’ and passed on. The rebuff did not, however, discourage John.


Gaspard was not the only member of the Holy Ghost Congregation who thought that John had the makings of a priest. His spiritual director, Fr John Kearney, had observed his piety in the junior Sodality of the Holy Angels. After hearing John’s confession on the eve of Passion Sunday in 1911, Fr Kearney broached the question of his becoming a priest. When John confided that Brother Gaspard had already said that he had a vocation, Fr Kearney tried diplomatically to convey to him that though undoubtedly a holy man, Brother Gaspard was not to be taken too seriously.


Kearney shared the general view that Gaspard was prone to hallucinations. One of the college founders, Fr Jean Martin Ebenrecht, often told of how during a visitation of the Superior General from the Holy Ghost mother house in Paris, Gaspard had disrupted Solemn Benediction by going into a trance in front of a boy and trying to consecrate him to the religious life. He said that God had inspired him to do so. Along with his natural brother, Andy O’Reilly, and other disciples, Gaspard was known for his nocturnal habit of assembling in the college chapel to say the Stations of the Cross and re-enact the Passion of Christ.3


Gaspard’s anointing of students and bodily mortifications were frowned upon by the college staff and the priests would sometimes humiliate him verbally, but his behaviour was tolerated because of his bread-making skills. John was undeterred by his spiritual director’s reservations about Gaspard, and approached the old man to tell him that he had decided to become a Holy Ghost priest. Gaspard responded: ‘A priest? I thought so.’4


Shortly afterwards, the bond between John and Gaspard became even closer following an accident which they came to regard as a sign from God. On Easter Monday 1911, John tripped and fell from a fast-moving tram outside the college gates. He was rushed to the college infirmary with a badly gashed leg and his shoulder seriously injured: one side would remain slightly higher than the other for the rest of his life. Gaspard visited him daily while he was in hospital. They grew convinced that God had saved John from death or serious injury because greatness was expected of him. During one of their many discussions about the interior life, Gaspard told John: ‘You will have great power in the confessional because of your purity.’ This remark flattered John and stuck in his mind.5


After his return to college routine, John visited Gaspard every Sunday in the bake-house for about half an hour. He believed that the Brother possessed supernatural powers which enabled him to perform miracles through the intercession of the fourteenth-century Italian ascetic and mystic, St Catherine of Siena, whose fasting and self-mortification resulted in her receiving the stigmata, or wounds of Christ.


Gaspard stressed the favours God accorded those who accepted His words and the punishment He inflicted on those who rejected His grace. ‘He did not hesitate to speak to me of the highest spirituality,’ John later wrote. ‘I distinctly remember his talking one evening of self-annihilation.’ Gaspard was steeped in the teachings and sayings of Francis Libermann, a convert Jew from Alsace who had just been declared Venerable by Pope Pius X. Libermann had co-founded the Congregation of the Holy Ghost and Immaculate Heart of Mary in Paris, a foundation which expanded to Ireland in the 1880s with the opening of schools by ‘the French Fathers’ at Blackrock, Co. Dublin, and Rockwell in Co. Tipperary.6


As well as preserving a distinctively French ethos, Blackrock College was dedicated to Jesus’s mother, Mary. A replica of the statue of Our Lady of Victories in Paris held pride of place in the extensive grounds, which included a number of impressive buildings such as Castledawson House, formerly part of the Pembroke estate, and the college chapel, a gem of Romanesque architecture of the Gothic type. Blackrock’s primary object, its founder Fr Jules Leman wrote, was to train its boys to be strong Catholics who would discharge their duties to the world and to God. Great emphasis was put on good manners and politeness. Blackrock inculcated in John a deep sense of the connection between chivalric conduct and honour to Mary.7


In awe of Gaspard, and happy, John came eighth in Ireland in the Classics in his Junior Grade examinations and won an Exhibition scholarship in Latin in which he took first place with a mark of 98 per cent. He scored 96 per cent for Greek and 80 per cent for French. His poorest subject was maths. Though not on the examination curriculum, church music was given a high priority in Blackrock, whose Holy Ghost hymnal was commended by Pope Pius X in a letter to the college president in 1911. John grew to love the Gregorian Chant.


As the summer holidays came round in June 1911, the college celebrated its golden jubilee with a Mass at which the Archbishop of Dublin, Dr William Walsh, presided. The Bishop of Clonfert, Dr Thomas Gilmartin, preached on the importance of Catholic education, a subject of conflict between the Hierarchy and the ‘secularising’ Dublin Castle authorities. Afterwards many prominent former pupils, including a young mathematics teacher, Éamon de Valera, mixed with the boarders over lunch. This was probably John’s first glimpse of the man who would not only shape Ireland’s destiny but determine the course of his own career. This occasion also marked John’s reluctant leave-taking of Blackrock College, and of Brother Gaspard to whom he had grown extremely attached.


Clongowes Wood College


In September 1911, John began the third phase of his secondary schooling, at the élite, Jesuit-run Clongowes Wood College in Sallins, Co. Kildare, where he was accompanied by his half-brother, Dean. The oldest Catholic college in Ireland, Clongowes prided itself also on being the best. John, however, was extremely perplexed by the move, which had been decided by his parents after a retreat given in Cootehill by a member of the Clongowes staff, Fr Charles O’Connell S.J. It would seem that Dr Eugene and Agnes confided their anxieties about Brother Gaspard’s influence on their son to Fr O’Connell, and they hoped that a switch to Clongowes would broaden his outlook.8 Another factor behind the change was financial: Dr Eugene was in arrears at Blackrock and was listed on the college’s bad debts file.9 On foot of a favourable reference from Fr O’Connell, he was able to do a more economic ‘package deal’ for John and Dean. John, however, was unsure about the motives behind the change of college and felt unsettled and extremely anxious. He already wanted to become a Holy Ghost priest. He missed Brother Gaspard badly.10


Downhearted, John was less than fully enthusiastic about his studies at his new school. Teaching him French was a Jesuit scholastic, Joseph Walshe, who later became a diplomat and he had a close relationship with him as Archbishop. The Prefect of Studies was Fr James Daly S.J., who was immortalised by Clongowes’ most famous past pupil, James Joyce, in his Portrait of the Artist as a Young Man, as Fr Dolan, the priest who thrashed the writer for allegedly smashing his own glasses. John’s Classics master and spiritual director was Fr John Sullivan S.J., whose cause for sainthood is being processed in Rome.11


John’s two closest friends at Clongowes were the tall and rugged Hugo Kerr from Belfast and the tall but frail Daniel O’Connell, who had been born in Rugby, England, but had moved to Ireland at the age of 12 after his Irish father and English mother died.12 Dan had a passion for astronomy which he shared with John, who had learned it from his father. Hugo, the son of a Belfast solicitor who was adviser to the Redemptorists at Clonard Monastery, excelled in the debating society at which John spoke with less sparkle.


John was more retiring than his friends, according to the Jesuit educationalist, Fergal McGrath S.J., but he was already showing ‘great qualities’. He used every spare moment – in class, in the corridors and in the college grounds – reading French literature.13 Even when he played in goal for the Gollymockies, he could be seen with a book in his hand when his team was on the attack.


Academically he did reasonably well, winning the gold medal for English in 1913 and taking first place in religious knowledge in 1912 and 1913. John, however, felt that he failed miserably in the middle and senior grade examinations. ‘Not only did I not retain the Latin medal and prizes and exhibition, but I did not even win a good honours mark,’ he wrote.14 Hugo’s memoirs confirm that John did not achieve his full academic potential at Clongowes. According to Hugo, it was the custom for those who had obtained an exhibition at the public intermediate examinations to sit at a special Exhibitioners’ Table in the refectory. As Hugo and John had won exhibitions in the junior examinations – and had collected the munificent sum of £10 each – they were privileged to have a seat at this prestigious table. To their common misfortune, both Hugo and John failed in maths in middle grade and therefore lost the overall examination. In disgrace, ‘we forfeited our position at the Exhibitioners’ Table and had to retire to the adjoining table which we christened ‘starvation corner’, Hugo wrote.15


It was also Hugo Kerr, who recorded an estrangement which John experienced in his relations with Dr Eugene and Agnes McQuaid. In the summer of 1912, the year which saw the sinking of the Titanic, John’s inner emotional world capsized. He found out that Agnes was not his real mother. ‘My father married a second time. That is bad news for me,’ the sixteen-year-old Cavan youth blurted out to Hugo as they sat one day in the refectory. So distraught was John that he vowed that he would not return to his home in Cootehill for the approaching summer holidays. Not only did John accept Hugo’s immediate offer to stay the summer with him in Belfast, he also spent the Christmas holidays there, an indication of the depth of his alienation from Dr Eugene and Agnes.16


There are two oral versions as to the circumstance in which John made his discovery. The first is that Agnes told John that his real mother had died a week after giving birth to him, and that his father had remarried soon afterwards.17 The second and more likely account is that John was told about his real mother by the son of a doctor who was a fellow student at Clongowes.18


The revelation had a devastating effect on the introverted teenager, and may account for a moodiness that marked his character in adult life. Remarkably, his adolescent hurt, far from plunging him into an anti-religious lifestyle, reinforced his belief that pain and suffering were central to life as God willed it. Later, John had in his possession a photograph of Jennie Corry, a pretty woman with a thin face and curly hair, wearing a high-collared blouse and smiling shyly.


John spent his birthday on July 28, 1912, with Hugo’s family at their home in the fashionable, and Protestant, Upper Malone Road, where they were the only Catholics to drive to Mass in St Brigid’s Church. The weeks he spent there brought him into close proximity with Ulster Unionism at a time when Protestant Ulster was mobilising against the nationalist and Catholic demand for Home Rule. Strenuous opposition to a third such Bill tabled at Westminster by the Liberal Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, was being mobilised by Conservative leader, the dour Andrew Bonar Law in conjunction with a Dublin-born lawyer, Edward Carson.


Belfast that summer was the centre of ugly sectarian confrontation. When an overzealous member of the Ancient Order of Hibernians, returning from a Home Rule demonstration, tried to seize a Union Jack from a Protestant child participating in a Sunday School procession, the brawl that followed resulted in 35 prosecutions. In retaliation, 3,000 Catholics were hounded out of the Harland and Wolff shipyard. In this crisis atmosphere the Bishop of Down and Connor, John Tohill, summoned a meeting of the clergy and senior laity of his diocese, including Hugo’s father, who was the first Catholic councillor in Belfast’s City Hall. In late July Bonar Law visited Belfast to assure Unionists that the British public would support their attempts to overturn Home Rule, no matter what lengths they went to. That summer, too, Carson collected signatures for a Covenant to be launched in the autumn to defeat ‘the present conspiracy to set up a Home Rule Parliament in Ireland’.19


John and Hugo’s return to college that autumn shielded them from these turbulent events. In their final year, Hugo became prefect of the Sodality of Our Lady Immaculate and John assistant prefect. Other members of the sodality were the future diplomat, Count Gerald O’Kelly, and future Attorney General, Conor Maguire. Each Tuesday evening Hugo and John prepared the oratory for the sodality meeting, which was addressed by Fr Sullivan. John revered Fr Sullivan, though Hugo offered the more critical view that, while he was undoubtedly a holy man, his style of oratory had little appeal.20 A more charismatic Jesuit priest, the ascetic Fr Willie Doyle, addressed the sodality and helped reinforce John’s belief that he was called by God to be a missionary priest. Fr Doyle was the inventor of the ‘black baby card’ which invited Irish students to subscribe half a crown to baptise and name an African child. This method of saving black children from the slavery of the devil captured John’s imagination.21


As office bearers in the sodality, one of the perks for John and Hugo was the special tea that was laid on for them by a Brother ‘Plum’. Looking on the boys as potential recruits to the Society of Jesus, ‘he seasoned his conversation with broad hints about novitiate life, to which we invariably made objections,’ Hugo recalled. ‘He had only one answer to these, to retire to a pantry or some inner sanctum and emerge with a plate of even more scrumptious cakes. Needless to say the objections continued non-stop, thus ensuring an abundant supply of cakes.’22


John, Hugo and Dan announced their intention of becoming priests during a novena to St Francis Xavier in March 1913. When the Jesuit Provincial arrived at Clongowes to interview prospective recruits in early June, he succeeded with only one of the three, Dan. He later became a distinguished Jesuit astronomer, firstly as Director of Riverview Observatory, New South Wales, in Australia, and afterwards as the Director of the Vatican Observatory and confidant of Pope Pius XII. Hugo, who felt that the Jesuits were too like the Christian Brothers, opted for the Redemptorists, where he rose to the rank of head of the Irish Province.


John insisted on joining the Holy Ghost Fathers, in line with his pledge to Brother Gaspard ‘to plant the faith of Christ in the African bush’.23 Faced with his stubborn determination, Agnes persuaded Dr Eugene to accept John’s wishes. According to Hugo, John’s relationship with Agnes improved immediately as a result. Father and son were reconciled too, and in the summer Dr Eugene took John on his first trip to the continent. It became a tour of pilgrimage centres including Lourdes and Lisieux. They also visited the cathedrals of Notre Dame in Paris, Chartres, Nancy, Metz and Strasbourg. One of the places they visited remained long in John’s memory – a shrine to Our Lady at Les Trois-Épis, a village in the Vosges overlooking the plain of Alsace.24 That summer, John’s eighteenth birthday marked his adieu to ordinary secular life.
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Sanctity and Terror


1913–24







‘My yoke is sweet.’


Fr John Kearney C.S.Sp.





Intent on becoming a saint, John McQuaid began his year-long novitiate as a Holy Ghost probationary in September 1913 at Kimmage Manor, a towering mock-Elizabethan building on a wooded estate close to the mountains in suburban South Dublin. This House of Studies, with an adjoining farm, stood in majestic isolation from the capital’s populace in accordance with the prevailing orthodoxy that priests were a caste superior to ordinary mortals. His training in the hard doctrines of humility and self-denial encouraged constant penance to control bodily and worldly desires. ‘The saints became saints only in doing violence to themselves, and in sacrificing without reserve all that was most dear to them,’ he recorded in a black-bound notebook. ‘Therefore I resolve to sacrifice everything to follow the voice of the Lord.’1


His time was governed by the rules of the Congregation. The chores of religious life were fixed in a preordained schedule set in motion by the ringing of the bell: rising in the early morning, followed by prayers before the Blessed Sacrament, meditation and Mass. There was spiritual reading, recital of the Divine Office and the Rosary, Benediction and the Stations of the Cross; then study, examination of conscience, gardening, meals and sleep. Even the walks in the grounds alongside the River Poddle took place in obligatory silence.2


A novice’s individuality was subordinated to the directives of his religious superiors as the interpreters of God’s will for him, and the rules were reinforced by regular retreats. The system was a form of indoctrination designed to control emotions and will power. The striving for personal perfection was compared to that of a young man dreaming of becoming a perfect footballer. ‘We join a club which is there to make the end easy for the individual,’ John wrote in his spiritual-exercise notebook. ‘We go through certain exercises day after day, giving up or taking on certain things.’


John’s novice master was Fr Dan ‘Spuds’ Walsh, from Skibbereen, Co. Cork, who instilled in him the rigorous teachings of the Venerable Francis Libermann, already known to him as Brother Gaspard’s spiritual guide. Libermann’s writings revolved around the constant struggle between the individual’s imperfect human nature and the supernatural life of God’s grace for the possession of the soul. In the battle between Adam and Jesus Christ, the spirit needed to annihilate the flesh through self-denial – renoncement – in God’s presence.3


This teaching was rooted in the French school of spirituality, whose towering figures from the sixteenth to the eighteenth century were Cardinal Berulle, Jean Jacques Olier, St Vincent de Paul, St John Eudes, John Baptist de la Salle and St Louis Grignion de Montfort. McQuaid’s mental companions were the giants of the Catholic Church’s age of spiritual grandeur.4 Central to French religious thought was a Jansenist concentration on mortal sin, especially sexual weakness. Bodily austerity was regarded as the hallmark of holiness, and the École Française extolled severe corporal mortification in order to achieve it. ‘Let us suffer, weep, fast and pray,’ de Montfort counselled. ‘You must destroy the man of sin who has reigned heretofore in you,’ preached de la Salle. For protection against the lust of the flesh, John prayed regularly to John Berchmans and Aloysius of Gonzaga, two saints renowned for their purity, and, with his special interest in medical matters, he developed a devotion to the patron saint of hospitals, St Camillus de Lellis. Influenced by French spirituality’s cult of Jesus and Mary, McQuaid collected devotional aids such as the blue scapular of the Immaculate Conception, a badge of the Immaculate Heart of Mary on green cloth, and prayer cards conferring a Plenary Indulgence which would absolve all sins at the hour of death.5


Beyond Kimmage’s walls, 100,000 Dubliners were gripped in a struggle against starvation during an eight-month lock-out of workers led by the Liverpool-born head of the Irish Transport and General Workers’ Union, Jim Larkin. Although Archbishop William Walsh of Dublin subscribed to the strikers’ children’s fund, Larkin’s decision to ship the children of the strikers to Britain for a holiday fell foul of Catholic clergy and pious laity who saw their evacuation as a danger to their faith and morals, and they ‘rescued’ them from their parents and guardians as they gathered at ports and railway stations for the journey. The lock-out highlighted the lack of social conscience which existed in Irish Catholicism, and inspired a number of priests to take up ‘the social issue’.6


Dublin had not long returned to an uneasy peace after its first taste of class warfare when the old European order collapsed. On August 3, 1914, Britain declared war on Germany on behalf of Belgium. Some 150,000 Irishmen volunteered for service in the British Army, among them John’s boyhood friend, Eric Dorman-Smith, while nationalist leader John Redmond agreed on a postponement of Home Rule for Ireland until after the war. A heartbroken Pope Pius X died pleading vainly for peace, and was succeeded on September 3 by a professional diplomat, Cardinal Giacomo della Chiesa, as Benedict XV. His priorities were peace in the world and an end to the anti-Modernist witch-hunting in the Church promised by his hard-line predecessor.


A few weeks later, John McQuaid, now aged 19, presented himself before the tabernacle in Kimmage to be professed as a member of the Congregation of the Holy Ghost and the Immaculate Heart of Mary. He solemnly vowed to observe poverty, chastity and obedience for three years, as well as to obey the Congregation’s rules and constitution. Proud of his membership of the Holy Ghost Congregation, he believed it was superior to other religious institutions on account of its dual recognition of the Holy Ghost and the Virgin Mary.


‘WE then are the brothers of J.X. – a privilege unique in the Church, because of the special title and Consecration,’ he wrote. ‘WE, then, are called to a closer imitation of Jesus Christ. To attain this we have withdrawn our minds and senses to study the Divine Model.’7


University student


In October 1914, John McQuaid, now wearing the soutane, collar, coat and soft hat of the Holy Ghost Congregation, began his studies for a Bachelor of Arts degree at University College, Dublin. Although it claimed to be the spiritual descendant of the short-lived Catholic University founded by Cardinal Paul Cullen of Dublin in uneasy partnership with the English scholar John Henry Newman, UCD owed its formal origins to the English liberal system which had conferred a non-Conformist statute on it as a constituent college of the National University of Ireland, along with sister colleges in Cork and Galway. In practice, it had developed a broadly Catholic ethos as the rival to Trinity College, a bastion of Protestantism founded in 1592 by Queen Elizabeth I of England. An indication of growing Catholic influence at NUI was the election of Archbishop Walsh as University Chancellor.


Usually, John cycled to and from college with a fellow Holy Ghost student, Dan Murphy, a Kerryman from Knocknagoshel who was older than him and as able intellectually. They became rivals rather than friends. Murphy once said that he could write two books about John McQuaid, to illustrate the two sides of his personality.8


Clerical decorum kept John and Dan Murphy from taking part in student social life. In his book The Man and the Mask, John Feeney claimed that ‘the young McQuaid was disconcerted with the lives of many youths from the countryside, which he considered wanton and corrupt.’9 Numbering just over 1,000 students in McQuaid’s day, the hub of college extra-curricular life was the Literary and Historical Society which provided a platform for many of the country’s leading figures to make their debut as debaters – among them John A. Costello, Conor Maguire, Arthur Cox and George O’Brien, a future Taoiseach, Chief Justice, President of the Incorporated Law Society and Senator respectively.10 Neither John nor Dan took part in these events: when lectures finished, they cycled back to the cloister to study and pray. When examinations came round in summer 1915, McQuaid took first-class honours in his five subjects and won the Delany Prize for obtaining the highest aggregate of marks among former Jesuit pupils.


He was selected for part-time secretarial work by the Holy Ghost Provincial, Fr John T. Murphy, under whom he learned the importance of keeping accurate records of the Congregation’s work and personnel. Fr Murphy was an accomplished fund-raiser – he had shown his financial flair in the United States where he raised the money to purchase and develop Kimmage Manor – and was not slow to demonstrate that investments, land management and balanced books were also vital to the life of a religious institute. Murphy had broken the tradition of scholastics studying in France by opening Kimmage and sending them to NUI. Although Murphy had secured a degree of decentralisation from the Congregation’s mother house, the Irish Province was still largely controlled by Paris. On the outbreak of the First World War, the French superiors moved personnel and assets to the Congregation’s house in Freiburg, Switzerland, while many clergy – Irish as well as French – volunteered as army chaplains. As a missionary Congregation, the outcome of the war against Germany was clearly going to have enormous implications for its missions in Africa.11


The Superior General of the Holy Ghost Fathers, Archbishop Alexander Le Roy, himself a veteran of the mission field, looked increasingly to Ireland for recruits to take up the mantle of the Celtic missionaries of earlier centuries. In Ireland there was a phenomenal growth of interest in the work of foreign missionaries that was as revolutionary in its impact on public attitudes as was fermenting within the nationalist movement. This interest centred on the Maynooth Mission to China, and in the work of the Holy Ghost Bishop of Southern Nigeria, Joseph Shanahan, who inspired the founding of the Missionary Sisters of Our Lady of the Holy Rosary and of the St Patrick’s Missionary Society.12


Like the majority of the Irish people, the Holy Ghost Fathers were surprised by the armed rising for national independence from Britain which took place in Dublin in Easter Week 1916. The Order’s Provincial condemned the Rising as the work of ‘foolish and uptight men’, and one Holy Ghost priest, Fr Jules Botrel, denounced it as ‘a stab in the back.’


However, with three former ‘Rock’ men involved in the Rising – Éamon de Valera, Fionán Lynch and Willie Corrigan – there was considerable sympathy for the rebels among the Holy Ghost priests.13 The brutal execution of the 1916 leaders swung public opinion in favour of the rebels, especially when publications such as the pro-Sinn Féin Catholic Bulletin published obituaries highlighting the piety they had shown before their deaths. Archbishop Walsh’s favourable attitude to Sinn Féin was a significant help in that movement’s victory in a by-election in Longford the following year.


John McQuaid graduated in the summer of 1917 with a first-class honours B.A. degree in Classics. In October he renewed his vows for a further five years and began work on a dissertation on ‘A Roman of the Early Empire: Lucius Annaeus Seneca.’ His thesis won him a first-class M.A. honours in 1918.14


McQuaid characterised Seneca, the philosopher-statesman of first-century Rome, as a pre-Christian moralist living in an age of immorality, sinfulness and confusion. ‘It is a great sign of strong virtue to abstain from pleasure when the crowd is wallowing in filth, to be sane and temperate when it is vomiting and drunk,’ he wrote. ‘But it is a much greater sign not to withdraw from the crowd nor mingle with it in all things. We can be merry without debauch.’ In a licentious age, Seneca commended chastity and upheld by his own example the natural sanctity of marriage. In days of brutal selfishness and callous cruelty, Seneca reverenced the slave and the outcast.


McQuaid compared the horrors Seneca experienced during Nero’s reign with the growing troubles he saw in Ireland. Referring to ‘the stealthy fear that crept around Seneca’, McQuaid argued that this was a feature of the Roman writer’s life which ‘it seems those only can fully appreciate who have themselves undergone a period of unnerving terrorism.’


McQuaid saw himself as living through ‘Senecan’ times. In addition to the horrendous carnage of the world war, the ungodly Bolshevik revolution in Russia and the slide towards guerrilla warfare in Ireland, there was an outbreak of Spanish ’flu in 1918 in which the deadliest virus thus far in the twentieth century killed an estimated 20 million people worldwide, including Fr Dan Walsh.15


As McQuaid was putting the finishing touches to his thesis, national politics focused on the East Cavan by-election, where the frantic efforts of the Bishop of Kilmore, Patrick Finegan, to unite the constituency behind the Parliamentary Party were frustrated by the parish priest of Cootehill, Fr O’Connell, who presided at the convention which chose the Dublin journalist, Arthur Griffith, as the Sinn Féin candidate. Griffith was returned with a majority of 1,200.


With the end of the world war, that saw the defeat of Germany and the collapse of Austro-Hungarian Empire, the Vatican hoped to participate in a diplomatic settlement on the reordering of European society. Like other Holy Ghost members, McQuaid believed that a secret Treaty between Italy, England, Russia and France prevented Pope Benedict, despite all his peace efforts, from being represented at the peace negotiations at Versailles.16 McQuaid, who noted that the Turks acknowledged the greatness of Benedict in a magnificent statue of him in Constantinople, believed that the Pope was excluded by a plot hatched by the Freemasons.


From autumn 1918 to 1920, turbulent years which saw the electoral triumph of Sinn Féin and the outbreak of the War of Independence against Britain, McQuaid taught as a prefect in Blackrock College while pursuing a Higher Diploma in Education at UCD under the country’s leading educationalist, Fr Timothy Corcoran S.J.17 Corcoran was strongly nationalist and pro-Sinn Féin. A product of Clongowes, in 1909 he was appointed Professor of the Theory and Practice of Education at UCD, where one of his earliest students had been Éamon de Valera, with whom he remained close. He had co-authored with Seán T. O’Kelly The Case for Ireland which O’Kelly, as the envoy of the Provisional Government, took to Paris as part of the campaign to lobby America’s President Woodrow Wilson for recognition of Ireland’s right to self-determination.18


In McQuaid, Corcoran found his most able, receptive and diligent disciple to share his vision of an Ireland that would reincarnate the old Catholic-Gaelic values. Their aim was to undo the work of the ‘so-called’ Protestant Reformation, which destroyed the monastic schools and shattered Catholic unity with Rome. An élitist – he believed in selecting a privileged minority to dominate the professions – Corcoran denigrated self-development in education as ‘soft pedagogy’ and set a high store on memorisation and repetition of facts. He expected that, in an independent Ireland, the Irish language and classical education would be revived. Corcoran’s villains became McQuaid’s villains: Jean Jacques Rousseau for his advocacy of emotional freedom; the progressive American educationalist John Dewey for attempting ‘to carry into popular education the antisocial and selfish tenets of Rousseau’; Pestalozzi, Froebel and particularly Maria Montessori for promoting a naturalistic or child-centred approach to education.


McQuaid also learned from Corcoran the importance of engaging in polemical journalism. Corcoran had begun editing Studies, a review of letters, philosophy and science, in March 1912, but by early 1914 the journal’s losses were so heavy that it faced bankruptcy. To meet the crisis, the Jesuit Provincial undertook to finance the publication on condition that the editor appointed by him was supported by the Jesuit Superior, and a new editor and manager, Fr P.J. Connolly S.J., took over in July 1914.19 Corcoran’s own literary output spanned a range of publications, including the Irish Monthly and the Catholic Bulletin, which under its editor, ‘Sceilig’ – J.J. O’Kelly – was noted for what historian Patrick Maume has called ‘hate-filled diatribes’ against Protestants and Freemasons’.20 At this time too McQuaid came in contact with Fr Finbar Ryan O.P., the Cork-born and Clongowes-educated editor of the Dominican magazine, The Rosary.


When the Holy Ghost Fathers founded the Missionary Annals, the new magazine provided an outlet for McQuaid’s writing. His first published article was a profile of ‘the apostle to Mauritius’, Fr Jacques Désiré Laval, a Norman doctor who converted 60,000 Mauritians to the Catholic faith and whose tomb became a place of pilgrimage after his death in 1864, with miraculous cures being attributed to his intercession. It was a topical article as Laval’s beatification process had been introduced in 1918 by John T. Murphy, now Bishop of Mauritius.21 McQuaid manned a stall selling copies of the Missionary Annals at the Donnybrook fête held to raise funds for the missions in Sierra Leone, Zanzibar and Nigeria.22 He joined the Annals’ editorial team and also helped to produce the Holy Ghost Manual, a study of Catholic writers like Monsignor Robert Hugh Benson, the convert son of an Archbishop of Canterbury, whose historical novels, ghost stories, mystical writings and fascination for gargoyles in chapels and for carvings and embroideries in old country houses attracted him.


By autumn 1920 the ‘unnerving terrorism’ of the War of Independence was at its most intense. Rockwell and Blackrock colleges were raided for arms and ‘collaborators’. The bishops, meeting at Maynooth College, roundly condemned a grim catalogue of British atrocities and declared that the only parallel to the misdeeds of their ‘Black and Tan’ troops were the outrages of the Bolshevik Red Army.


The growing nationalist mood at Kimmage was highlighted in the community’s response to the death of 17-year-old Kevin Barry, executed for killing two British soldiers collecting bread in North King St, Dublin. ‘Another tragic death unites us all in prayer today,’ the Missionary Annals reported. ‘Many Masses were offered in our communities this morning for the gallant Kevin Barry, who was up to a few weeks ago a pupil in one of our colleges, and whose name is now inscribed on the list of those who died for Ireland. God send us many more like Kevin Barry. He is a splendid type of Catholic Irishman. He is a worthy model in every sphere of life – in church, in army or in State: unselfish, brave and true.’23


Only hours after Bishop Joseph Shanahan celebrated his first Pontifical Mass in Blackrock College on November 20, 1920, news arrived from Croke Park of the indiscriminate killing of 14 sports fans by British troops, a retaliatory action for the killing of 14 of their officers by Michael Collins’s squad, the ‘Apostles’. In December, just days after the Government of Ireland Act was passed by the Westminster parliament, there was a Christmas Eve raid on the Holy Ghost college of St Mary’s, Rathmines.


When Dublin’s Archbishop Walsh died in the spring of 1921, Catholic Ireland mourned the passing of a leader whose 35-year reign stretched from the Land War to the campaign for Home Rule. His untimely death left the country on the verge of the partitionist settlement he had worked so hard to avoid. Three weeks later, a letter from Pope Benedict referred to Ireland as ‘unflinching, even unto the shedding of blood, in her devotion to the ancient Faith and in her reverence for the Holy See.’


The Irish bishops welcomed the Pope’s rebuke of Britain. In Rome the credit for Benedict’s April letter was attributed to the Cork-born Archbishop of Melbourne, Daniel Mannix, whose striking personality had impressed the Pope when they met. A confidant of Éamon de Valera, now a leading rebel against Britain, Mannix’s role had not gone unnoticed in the Missionary Annals, which described him as ‘our suffering country’s most brilliant son and stoutest champion’. Mannix and his colleague, Archbishop Foley of Ballart, responded to this praise by taking out life subscriptions to the magazine.24


Against this unsettled background, John McQuaid pursued his courses in theology and philosophy under the direction of Holy Ghost Fathers who had studied in Rome at the height of Pius X’s uncompromising campaign against Modernism. Two in particular, Fr Denis Fahey, from Tipperary, and Fr James Murphy, from Mullagh, Co. Clare, had been imbued with the anti-Rationalist spirit that swept Rome during his Papacy. Both men were strongly influenced by the movement known as ‘integralism’ which regarded Revelation as a body of truths delivered by God to the Apostles and to their successors, the bishops, authoritatively to be laid before the obedient intellects of the faithful. Essentially, Catholic integralists saw the whole system of doctrine as given by God to his Church, like a package deal for all time.25 Fahey summed up integralism when he wrote that in Rome he vowed to St Peter to ‘teach the truth about the Master in the way that the first Pope and the Roman Pontiffs wanted it to be done.’26 While science and intellectual thought might change, integralists regarded faith as immutable. They denounced liberal-minded Catholics as agnostics and vehemently opposed the emphasis placed by Immanuel Kant and Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Hegel on the value of exploring human experience.


Fahey and Murphy had been taught by the chief exponent of integralism, the Professor of Dogmatic Theology at the Gregorian University, Fr Louis Billot S.J. Created a cardinal in 1911, Billot, a Frenchman, loathed the French Revolution and all forms of liberalism, and admired Charles Maurras, a non-believer whose anti-Semitic Action Française movement and newspapers championed the Catholic Church’s right to a special place in French life. Above all, Billot was a follower of the thirteenth-century scholar, St Thomas Aquinas.27 Like Billot, Fahey also regarded Aquinas as the apostle of modern times, one whose integration of intellectual and spiritual life in his Summa theologica provided Irish youth with an antidote to the anti-religious naturalism arising from Martin Luther’s revolt against the authority of Rome in the sixteenth century.28


John McQuaid accepted completely these neo-scholastic teachings on the unchanging nature of the Catholic Church. He was taught that the Roman Missal would endure for all time, as decreed by the Papal Bull of 1570, Quo Primum Tempore, while Bossuet’s classic text, Histoire des Variations des Églises Protestantes, confirmed his belief that Protestantism was a recipe for doctrinal chaos.


The nineteenth century was, in McQuaid’s words, a time of ‘the dirtiest intrigue’, in which the Freemason, Count Camillo Cavour, united Italy and dispossessed Pope Pius IX of his estates, known as the temporal power. McQuaid believed Italy was ‘inspired by a hatred of the Papacy that stopped short only at assassination: they were afraid to murder the Vicar of Christ, so the cowards robbed him instead.’29


Steeped in the Papal tradition that ‘error has no rights’, McQuaid accepted Rome’s opposition to democracy and its advocacy of political and press censorship. Like Fahey, he became an expert on the Papal Encyclicals. He studied Pope Pius VI’s condemnation of the French Declaration of the Rights of Man and Citizen of 1789, and the writings of Pius IX, who in his 1864 Syllabus of Errors condemned the proposition that ‘the Roman Pontiff can and should reconcile himself to and agree with progress, liberalism and modern civilisation’. He also read The Pilgrimages of Switzerland by the ultramontane writer, Louis Veuillot, with its memorable quotation regretting that the reformer, Huss, was not burned earlier in life and that Luther had not been burnt at all.


With nationalism on the ascendant in Ireland McQuaid reflected on its relationship with Catholicism. In 1913 the celebrations to honour the centenary of the birth of Thomas Davis, the Protestant Young Irelander and editor of The Nation, recalled the role Protestants had played in the struggle for a united Ireland. This invitation to Protestants and Catholics to work towards a common national identity ran contrary to the exclusively Catholic outlook McQuaid was nurturing at Kimmage. Referring in his notebook to Davis’s much-quoted verse:






What matters that at different shrines


We pray unto one God?…


If you’re to Ireland true,


We heed not race, nor creed, nor clan,


We’ve hearts and hands for you.








McQuaid answered Davis’s question: ‘Yes for a logical Protestant.’ But the answer must be ‘No’ for Catholics, for whom religion was not merely an individual affair. ‘We must heed what is the creed,’ he wrote, rhetorically posing the question: ‘If a neutral nationality be set up, if Protestants are drawn in and not converted, is not the supernatural end missed?’30


This equating of the supernatural purpose and Catholicism prejudiced McQuaid against Protestant leaders of Irish nationalism, particularly the head of the United Irishmen, Theobald Wolfe Tone, whose attachment to French Revolutionary ideas and politics ‘did immense harm to the Irish character’.31 McQuaid’s anti-Protestant outlook was reinforced by a third Holy Ghost teacher, Fr John Kearney, who had taught him at Blackrock. A staunch advocate of the dogma that ‘Outside the Church there is no salvation’, Kearney was fond of saying that when St Paul said ‘I chastise my body,’ he meant ‘I beat myself black and blue.’


McQuaid’s rigidity was further confirmed by his teacher in Canon Law, scripture and catechetics, Fr Bernard Fennelly, who was also his confessor, a position which gave him enormous, and life-long, influence. From Fennelly, McQuaid inherited the habit of according great respect for the minute details regulating Church life as defined in the Code of Canon Law, promulgated by Pope Benedict XV in 1918.32


A tragic State


Aquinas and Billot were worlds away from the negotiations in London between an Irish delegation led by Michael Collins and Arthur Griffith and British Prime Minister Lloyd George which produced a Treaty establishing the Irish Free State on December 6, 1921. The sovereignty of the new State extended over only 26 of Ireland’s 32 counties. Six of the nine Ulster counties remained under British rule and would henceforth to be governed from the Stormont parliament by the Protestant Unionist leaders, James Craig and Basil Brooke. McQuaid’s Cavan was one of three Ulster counties which found itself under the jurisdiction of the Irish State.


After heated debate in which Collins argued for the Treaty as a stepping stone to greater autonomy at a later date, the Dáil ratified it by 64 votes to 57. The Irish Free State became an independent dominion within the British empire, the first but not the last nation to achieve this status. At 26 years of age, John McQuaid was now a citizen of the Irish Free State, though it was still required to profess ultimate allegiance to the British Crown, and when the President of the Executive Government, Éamon de Valera, and a minority of Sinn Féin refused to accept the Treaty’s ratification, the country moved inexorably towards Civil War.


The Catholic bishops came out in support of the Treaty, describing it as a settlement which brought civil strife to an end and restored lawful governance in the two jurisdictions on the island. The Treaty, the bishops also argued, had re-established a framework in which theological principles might again be unambiguously applied. The bishops’ theological authority was the Professor of Ethics and Politics at UCD, Michael Cronin, whose two volumes on The Science of Ethics taught that rebellion was a grave violation of the divine law and a grave sin’.33


The establishment of the Irish Free State coincided with a new pontificate in Rome following the death of Benedict XV. McQuaid, who thought Benedict had been a man of greatness, believed that because he showed himself above all else to be ‘the Pope of Charity’ his name would never die in human memory. However, Benedict is probably the least remembered Pope of the twentieth century. When he died unexpectedly, he had given so much money to aid the victims of war that, while his humanitarianism offset the hostility of the major powers, who were angered by his pacifism, the Vatican did not have enough money to cover the expenses of the conclave convened to elect his successor.34


On February 2, 1922, the Archbishop of Milan, Achille Ratti, a scholar and librarian, and formerly Papal Nuncio to Poland, was elected Pope. His first act was to appear on the balcony of St Peter’s as a gesture of goodwill to the Italian people, something which no new Pope had done since Pius IX in 1846. Taking as his motto Pax Christi in regno Christi, he reaffirmed his belief in the centrality of the Latin language and the scholastic method of St Thomas Aquinas in the training of the clergy. These had been fundamental elements of John McQuaid’s education as he graduated through the several stages on the way to the priesthood. On March 10 in Dublin’s Pro-Cathedral he knelt before the new Archbishop of Dublin, Edward Byrne, to receive the tonsure. The circle shaved on the crown of his head was a sign that he was now a cleric.


On May 7 the bishops condemned the IRA’s defiance of civil authority as ‘an immoral usurpation and confiscation of the people’s rights’, and warned that they would face excommunication. Asked in later years about his attitude to the excommunication of republicans led by de Valera – known as the Irregulars – McQuaid said that there was ‘a great deal of confusion and that these men were given the sacraments when they were dying’.35


As his 27th birthday came round, McQuaid confided in his private notebook on July 26, 1922: ‘Lord Jesus, save me from a bitter tongue. Often and often I sin by sarcasm and irony, by abruptness of speech and manner, by chilly politeness towards those who even without reason irritate me, by remarks, ill-timed, misplaced and impertinent, because lacking in respect due to others, who are my superiors or my confreres.’ A remorseful McQuaid struggled to overcome this character defect. He was sorry that he ‘wounded fraternal charity and made life hard for those around me.’36


McQuaid’s aloofness, especially in the company of women, was noted by Eileen Finlay, who was being courted by his half-brother, Dean. An intelligent young woman and a niece of Fr Thomas Finlay S.J., John, on holiday in Cootehill, appeared to her as a strait-laced, austere man who kept his distance from her. ‘He had a very cutting manner,’ she recalled. ‘His eyes were sneaky.’37 Nor was his sister, Helen, friendly. Eileen’s impression was that Dr Eugene’s second family did not sit well with Helen and John. Dean, who was a doctor in the Free State Army, had a very different temperament from his half-brother. He took Eileen to a dance in Clones in the neighbouring county of Monaghan, and assured her they would be safe as he had been given an escort by the head of the anti-Treaty forces, Frank Aiken.


On February 23, 1923, McQuaid received the news that Dean had been wounded by the Irregulars in an ambush at Furnace schoolhouse on a remote mountainside near Newport in Co. Mayo. He had been on patrol as a Red Cross medical with the First Western Division of the Free State Army. Accompanied by his cousin, Mary Connolly, an anxious McQuaid set out on the long journey to Mayo. The Freeman’s Journal had reported that during a six-hour battle a Free State soldier had fallen mortally wounded and ‘a young doctor who accompanied him rushed to render assistance and in doing so he was fired on and wounded, though happily not seriously.’38


On arrival at Claremorris hospital, John and Mary found that Dean’s wound was much more serious than had been reported. Dean died on Monday, February 26, at the age of 23. Under army escort, John and Mary travelled with Dean’s hearse to Cootehill, where he was given a huge funeral.


Anxious to know the exact circumstances of his half-brother’s death, John wrote to the officer in command, Captain Joe Togher, who had been wounded in the ambush. ‘The doc was a universal favourite,’ Togher wrote from Galway. ‘It was impossible not to love him, he was such a gentlemanly chap, so cheerful and unassuming, and with all that refinement that came from a perfect home life, and liberal education. From Mac’s ways, I could tell what pals you and he must have been.’


Dean had had a painful, lingering death. Pale and cold as ice, he had lain on the schoolhouse floor wrapped in children’s coats. ‘We then got the fire going with pieces of wood and turf, and covered him with our own greatcoats,’ Togher went on. ‘I lay down beside him and rubbed his hands while the Sergeant Major rubbed his feet, but it was impossible to keep him warm. He lost a fearful amount of blood and his clothes were saturated. I could hear him breathing through the hole in his lung, and I was in positive agony not knowing what to do for him. We bound him up and plugged the wound with dressing. He was in great pain.’


In despair Togher sent one of the children out waving a white apron to the house where the Irregulars were positioned to ask for blankets, clean sheets and some water and milk, but the Irregulars refused to give the provisions. Instead they sent Togher an ultimatum to surrender. Togher refused. The siege of the schoolhouse continued. ‘Dean tried to clear his throat. He asked me to lift him up. I lay down and shoved his shoulders up to enable him to spit out. He did so. It was a clot of blood. ‘’That’s a piece of my lung Joe,’ Dean said.’ At about 7.30pm reinforcements arrived with a doctor and stretchers. Dean was moved to Westport, and later to Claremorris.


The Free State troops wanted revenge for the loss of their comrade. ‘We had eight prisoners. They were only arrested on suspicion, but officers and men went so mad when they heard about Mac that they wanted to shoot the lot. I explained we weren’t sure about them, and I think that’s all that saved them. I never saw men so mad.’


This account of Dean’s death gave McQuaid a bitter insight into the cruelty of the Civil War. He took consolation from the fact that Dean had been in a state of supernatural grace when he met his death; he had said an Act of Contrition, which Togher considered unnecessary, knowing that he had been to confession the previous Saturday. The teacher had also got the children to say the Rosary for ‘the poor doctor’.39


Concern for the spiritual welfare of combatants appears to have been John McQuaid’s main response to a Civil War in which his sympathies lay with the Free State Forces rather than the republicans who resorted to armed insurgency. In later life McQuaid persuaded army chaplain Fr John Piggott to write a personal account of what was perhaps the most tragic episode of the Civil War: the government-sanctioned execution of four republican prisoners – Liam Mellows, Rory O’Connor, Dick Barrett and Joe McKelvey – in reprisal for the assassination of a Dáil deputy, Seán Hales. Piggott was able to confirm that Mellows was not refused the sacraments before his death. And he disclosed that Archbishop Byrne had pleaded with the President of the new Executive Council, W.T. Cosgrave, a devout Dublin Catholic, to stop the executions, Afterwards Byrne protested that ‘the policy of reprisals seems to be not only unwise but entirely unjustifiable from the moral point of view’.40


Dean’s death was followed by the death of Brother Gaspard, John’s spiritual mentor. Their loss spurred on his determination to complete his preparations for the priesthood. The culmination of 11 years of study41 came on June 29, 1924, when he was ordained a priest at St Mary’s College in Rathmines by the Vicar Apostolic of Bagamoyo in East Africa, Bishop Bartholomew Wilson C.S.Sp., a Corkman who had received the Distinguished Service Medal and the Military Cross as a British Army chaplain.42 The tall, heavily built Wilson called on the slender, ascetic McQuaid, his hair already slightly receding, to recite the anti-Modernist oath. McQuaid vowed to accept ‘those principal dogmatic truths which are directly opposed to the errors of this time’ and to uphold until his last breath the Faith of the Fathers communicated through the Episcopal succession from the Apostles.43


Shortly before John’s ordination, the Irish Holy Ghost Province had been praised by the Vatican for the high quality of its teaching of Aquinas. ‘The philosophy of St Thomas Aquinas has always been inculcated by the Catholic Church as that which most conforms to the truth of our dogmas,’ Cardinal Pietro Gasparri wrote to the Holy Ghost Provincial, Fr Joseph Byrne C.S.Sp.44 To help consolidate the Irish Province’s academic standing in Rome, Fr Byrne selected McQuaid, his best Thomistic scholar, to study sacred scripture there. McQuaid had already begun to learn Hebrew under Professor of Scripture and Oriental Languages at UCD, Dr Patrick Boylan, who had studied in Berlin under Adolf von Harnack and was building an international reputation as a linguist and biblical scholar. Throughout July and early August McQuaid helped Boylan complete his second volume of The Psalms and was warmly thanked for his assistance by Boylan in a generous tribute in the preface.45 The book was completed before McQuaid left Ireland for Paris, which he found greatly altered since his visit with his father in 1913. The traditional spectre of ‘the clerical threat’ remained at the centre of French politics, however, with the Cartel des Gauches – an alliance of the Left led by the Radical, Édouard Herriot – whipping up anti-Catholic feeling rather than tackling the country’s post-war economic difficulties. To counter these attacks a National Catholic Federation was set up under General Castelnau, who believed that le Pays légal – as distinct from le Pays réel – was once more under the control of Freemasons and Jews, a view that also held sway with the Holy Ghost Fathers at their headquarters in Chevilly.


It was at Chevilly on September 17 that Fr John McQuaid was consecrated to the Apostolate, the formal confirmation of his priestly vows by the Mother House. After a short stay McQuaid travelled by train to Rome, where he believed, mistakenly, that his destiny was to become a biblical scholar.
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‘You might sometimes, too, have met him in early morning prayer and Mass at the tomb of the Eucharistic Pontiff, Pius X.’


Fr Michael O’Carroll C.S.Sp. on McQuaid’s Roman days.





Fr John McQuaid C.S.Sp. watched Pope Pius XI advance steadily towards him along the corridor of the Lateran Palace. Portly and imperial in a white soutane, with black cape and rounded hat, Pius approached the stall to browse through the literature and artefacts relating to the missionary activities of the Holy Ghost Fathers which were on display under McQuaid’s supervision. On the Pope’s arrival at the stall, McQuaid, robed in a black cloak, fell to his knees and bowed his head. The Pope, his gold-rimmed spectacles glistening in the sunlight, held out his hand for the young priest to kiss his ring and imparted his blessing. In this face to face encounter, at the Missionary Exhibition during the Holy Year in 1925, McQuaid was enthused by the granite-like character of a Sovereign Pontiff, whose every action bore the hallmarks of self-confidence and authority. It was not only the highlight of McQuaid’s period in Rome, but also the highpoint of his career to date. He had met ‘the Pope of the Missions’, Christ’s representative on Earth.1


His Roman experience, from late summer 1924 to late autumn 1925, entrenched John McQuaid’s Papalist outlook. During the Holy Year jubilee of 1925, Rome was the focus of the Catholic world as never before. More than 1,500,000 pilgrims came to the Eternal City as pilgrims, while 750,000 visitors attended the Missionary Exhibition which displayed how extensively the Church had followed its mandate to bring Catholic values to bear on societies world-wide. With the prestige of the Papacy reaching new heights, Pope Pius staged a number of impressive canonisation ceremonies in St Peter’s Square, including those of a number of saints to whom McQuaid was devoted, like St Thérèse of Lisieux,2 St John Baptist Vianney, more popularly known as the Curé d’Ars, St John Baptist de la Salle and St John Eudes. Beatified was Bernadette Soubirous of Lourdes, while St Francis de Sales was proclaimed a Doctor of the Church. For someone of McQuaid’s devotional temperament such colourful ceremonies provided endless fascination, as he studied the decorum of clerical protocol, the nobility of the Papal Court and the trappings of the diplomatic world and, above all, listened to the beauty of the plain chant of the Sistine Chapel Choir with his Holy Ghost colleague Fr Michael Kennedy, a tenor who regularly sang in the choir.3


Rome was an aesthetic as well as an intellectual experience for McQuaid, who spent hours visiting the city’s magnificent churches. He would sometimes take pilgrims on a special tour of the basilicas of St Peter’s, St Paul’s Without the Walls, Santa Maria Maggiore, and St John Lateran, and spent hours looking at Rome’s art treasures and archaeology, particularly admiring ‘the golden simplicity’ of the artists Giotto and Fra Angelico.4 He visited the graves of the early Christians in the catacombs. On his regular visits to St Peter’s he prayed at the tomb of Pius X ‘for whom he never concealed his admiration’.5


The combative spirit of Pius X was shared by Pius XI, whose religious agenda was also deeply political. ‘The larger project of the Pontiff was always to revive and revitalise an intransigent and ultramontane version of Catholic Christianity,’ writes the historian, James McMillan. ‘As the Pope of Catholic Action, he hoped that the laity might become apostles of Christ alongside the clergy – though always subject to the authority of the Hierarchy. What Pius wanted was not a reconciliation between the Church and the modern world but a holy crusade against it in the name of Christ the King.’6


The compromise between the Vatican and Mussolini’s Fascist state was well underway during McQuaid’s stay in Rome. L’Osservatore Romano had welcomed Mussolini’s seizure of power in 1922, and the Vatican Secretary of State, Cardinal Pietro Gasparri, was already embarked on the secret negotiations with Mussolini which would lead to the signing of the Lateran Treaty in 1929, an agreement between the Pope and the Duce which, in McQuaid’s view, ‘repaired to some extent’ the loss of temporal power by Pius IX in 1870.7


Although Mussolini ‘displayed a hostility that bordered on the obscene’ towards Christianity and Catholicism,8 he was also a pragmatist. To placate the Vatican, he curtailed the freedom of Protestant missions in Italy and stopped the building of a mosque in Rome. Launching a campaign to present himself as a model Christian, Mussolini had his marriage regularised and his children baptised by the Catholic Church. The former advocate of free love and the author of a novel, The Cardinal’s Daughter, in which he portrayed priests as ‘black microbes as fatal to mankind as tuberculosis germs’, now advocated large families, the apostolic number of twelve being promoted as the ideal. Childless couples were subjected to penal taxation. Adultery and passing on syphilis to a sexual partner were made punishable in law. Short skirts and skimpy bathing costumes were banned, as were negro dances. Women were urged not to participate in sport. For his part, Pius XI regarded Mussolini as an improvement on the Socialist or Communist alternatives. His modus vivendi with the dictator was also to carry the heavy price of disowning the moderate Partito Populare under the dynamic Sicilian priest, Luigi Sturzo, and the dissolution of Catholic trade unions. Historians like Professor A.J.C. Jemolo have argued that by associating with such a fundamentally anti-Christian and anti-clerical movement, the Papacy became less capable in later years of taking a firm stand against Fascism and German Nazism.9 Clearly, Mussolini’s pro-Church phase provided the devout young Cavan priest with a model of how the State could co-operate with the Vatican in enforcing its Catholic teachings.


McQuaid had taken up residence in the Via Sancta Chiara at the Holy Ghost Fathers’ Pontifical Seminary, Gallico de Urbe, better known as the French seminary. Here he came into daily contact with the academic wing of Papal militancy. Entrusted by Pope Pius IX in 1853 to counteract Gallican tendencies towards greater independence from Rome, the seminary’s priorities were widened at the request of Pius X to engage in the battle against Modernism. Its superior, Fr Henri le Floch C.S.Sp., an ardent royalist and supporter of the anti-Semitic Action Française movement, was also a close friend of Cardinal Billot, who often visited the college. His combination of theological rigidity and political conservatism rubbed off on the seminarians, who were from all parts of France, among them Marcel Lefebvre, the future Holy Ghost Superior General and rebel-traditionalist Archbishop of the 1970s.


The same blend of anti-Modernist attitudes also dominated the Pontifical Biblical Institute in the former Papazurri Palace, where McQuaid attended scripture lectures. Its founder-rector, Fr Leopold Fonck, a German Jesuit, had established the Institute in 1909 on the personal request of Pius X to counteract Modernist thinking. Fonck had assembled a vast library and museum, stocked with publications which promoted the worldview of Pius X. Thanks to Frs Murphy and Fahey, McQuaid came to Rome already well versed in this firebrand-style of Catholicism. In studying for his Licentiate in Biblical Studies at the Pontifical Institute, McQuaid had joined the ranks of the Vatican’s intellectual élite. Through Fonck he mingled with the leaders of a highly organised conservative faction in Rome that stressed fidelity to tradition and opposition to the new method of biblical criticism pioneered by the Dominican founder of the École Biblique in Jerusalem, Fr Marie-Joseph Garrigou-Lagrange. Fonck’s scholarship did not stray beyond the directives issued by Pius X.10 Fonck’s students, including McQuaid, saw themselves as ‘integral Catholics’ who inherited from Christ the certitude that Catholicism embodied an objective order of divine facts and teachings that were true for all time and place. Integralism, too, contemptuously treated Protestantism as the product of anarchic individualism. In such a climate of ideological hostility to modern thinking, McQuaid belonged to a school that accepted an unchanging Church. In accordance with a decree of the Biblical Commission in 1906, he was taught that the first five books of the Bible were written personally by Moses, an instruction regarded as nonsense by subsequent generations of scholars. One of his lecturers was a highly intelligent young Austrian Jesuit, Fr Augustin Bea, who in later years was to move far beyond the confines of Fonck’s narrow system and become one of the leading champions of the aggiornamento of the Second Vatican Council.


A pilgrimage to Aquino


As part of his studies, McQuaid combed through the works of the leading authorities on St Thomas Aquinas.11 Fatigued by the heat of Rome on a late April day in 1925, he was sitting limply behind a pile of books in his study at the French seminary when there was a knock at his door. It was a messenger informing him that the Superior, Fr le Floch, wanted to see him. A vacancy had arisen on the following day’s international pilgrimage to the birthplace of St Thomas Aquinas at Aquino – did McQuaid wish to go? McQuaid accepted at once. At 3.30 next morning he rose for prayer, said Mass and had breakfast before crossing Rome to board the bustling train for the three-hour journey to Aquino. Under the pseudonym of Perigrinatus Hibernicus he wrote a vivid account of the pilgrimage for the Missionary Annals. Like a budding travel writer, he captured the flavour of Mussolini’s Italy. With the train departing on time, he described its slow ascent in the Alban mountains, its picking up speed on the slope towards Naples, rattling and puffing across miles of pasture and tillage on its way up the snow-clad Apennines, glistening in the spring sunshine, passing through Old Praeneste and Angani, crossing the Lirio and the river valley before reaching its destination. With their banners unfurled, the pilgrims walked the remaining three kilometres to Aquino.


‘Fascisti soldiers passing along our ranks invited us to form in fives,’ McQuaid wrote. ‘That done, a band somewhere in front struck up a march; the whole column moved forward, bareheaded and somewhat silent, into the town of St Thomas Aquinas. A narrow street, bordered by houses, old and new, that sometimes lean forward, sometimes recede, side streets that are stone stairways, a large square, off which, to the right, in a tiny square stands the old Cathedral and the house of St Thomas’s family, the whole village perched on the brow of a precipice; that is Aquino.’ The Solemn High Mass in honour of St Thomas was sung in the cathedral by the Procurator-General of the Dominicans, Fr Catharani. The deacon was Fr Thomas Garde, the Prior of the Irish Dominican Church of San Clemente, a Corkman who had studied in Jerusalem and now taught at the Angelicum. The text of a telegram from Pope Pius XI was read to the congregation before the local bishop, Monsignor Bonnani, raised for the veneration of the pilgrims a crucifix with a silver figure that had belonged to the Counts of Aquino.


After some sightseeing and dining with ‘excellent relish’ at an osteria, McQuaid and three companions walked six kilometres in the hot sun to the fortress town of the Aquinas family at Rocca-Secca in the mountains. They were determined to reach the summit. ‘Tell me,’ McQuaid said earnestly to a young French seminarist, ‘do you think St Thomas is watching us now?’


‘We talked pure Thomism all the way, and while his young enthusiasm kindled and flashed, I could watch the flush of his eager face, at my side, as the thoughts of his Angelic Teacher sped through his mind. We passed several shrines at the cross-roads, always of the Cross, always the recognition of a world redeemed by the Precious Blood of God Himself. Oh how good it was to breathe in such air the perfume of Christ and the love of Mary in the home of our Saint and Teacher, Thomas.’


After climbing up the cliff-face, McQuaid met ‘a Dominican head which could only have come from Ireland’.12 He greeted the stranger in Irish with the words, Dia’s Muire dhuit. Back came the name of St Patrick. ‘We had just time for a handshake and a promise to meet again. Is it the first time God and his Mother and St Patrick were named in our tongue in the home of St Thomas?’ McQuaid wondered. Making straight for the ruined tower, McQuaid recalled that this had been the saint’s prison, where ‘his fiendish enemies had tempted his chastity and where, in the hour of his triumph, God’s angels had girded him in sign of the gift of perpetual virginity.’ Kneeling down at this sacred spot, McQuaid and his friends said a prayer. Kissing the stones, they imagined that Thomas had touched them or that his white Dominican habit had brushed against them.


Marvelling at the intense devotion of the local people to God and his Blessed Mother, McQuaid’s thoughts returned to Cootehill, ‘to the old home-country, especially to my own North-land, while I caught the traces of the characteristics of our Catholic people in this other Catholic people of the Italian mountains. Wherein lies the common cause of this resemblance? In God and his Blessed Mother. Ah we, who have lived among Protestants, know it.’


The trip to Aquino further stimulated McQuaid’s interest in the Angelic Master, but his preference in terms of travel was for the north of Italy rather than the south. Later that year he visited Siena, the capital of the Chianti region: His purpose was to make a pilgrimage to the birthplace of St Catherine to pray for the soul of Brother Gaspard. It also produced another piece of writing, in which McQuaid again combined a good eye for his surroundings with a densely mystical and romantic style. ‘There it stands yet, the old building beyond the Cathedral Square, unchanged, like other features in medieval Siena,’ he wrote. ‘In her home, too, still you see her lantern and her staff.’13


Just as he was showing promise as a biblical scholar and writer, McQuaid’s life took an unexpected direction as the result of a manpower crisis in the Irish Province of the Holy Ghost Fathers. Alarmed at falling enrolments to their Blackrock and Rockwell colleges, the Superior General in Paris, Monsignor Louis Le Hunsec, had appointed Dr Edward Crehan as an official visitor – an investigator – with the task of drawing up a confidential report on the state of affairs in Ireland.14 Crehan discovered that, although the Irish Province contained a broad spectrum of political opinion, it had become too identified with the defeated republican side through its association with Éamon de Valera. As a result it was losing support from those who backed the Cosgrave Government, which was consolidating its hold on power. It was also feared that the Holy Ghost Fathers had lost the confidence of the bishops.


In the light of Crehan’s report, Le Hunsec authorised an administrative shake-up at the highest levels of the Irish Province. The Provincial, Fr Joseph Byrne, a loyal friend of de Valera, was transferred to Paris, while Fr Dick Hartnett, an apolitical figure, was promoted to the post of Provincial. Crehan himself became President of Rockwell, with Fr Dan Murphy, McQuaid’s UCD rival, as Dean of Studies.


Fr Edward Leen, a friend of W.T. Cosgrave and Eoin MacNeill, was made President of Blackrock College in place of Fr Michael Downey, another close friend of de Valera’s. The final place on the new team was assigned to Fr John Charles McQuaid, who became Dean of Studies at Blackrock College. In what effectively was a purge of the pro-de Valera leadership, the new men were given the task of getting back on side with the Cumann na nGaedheal Government and the Hierarchy.


McQuaid was not destined to become a biblical scholar or a foreign missionary after all. Whatever his sense of shock on receiving word of his transfer to Blackrock without having completed his higher studies, he put into practice the teaching of Brother Gaspard by submitting to the will of God as directed by his superiors. The closing of his Roman period, however, coincided with the ending of his links with Cootehill. McQuaid had no sooner arrived in Ireland in late autumn 1925 when he had to rush to Cootehill where his father’s health was deteriorating rapidly. As he was walking him home in silence from morning Mass to Court View, a frail and unsteady Dr Eugene suddenly said: ‘People are hungry and thirsty for doctrine.’ It was a remark that John never forgot.15 When Dr Eugene died on December 13, there was an ‘extremely large’ funeral at which Bishop Finegan presided, according to the Anglo-Celt, which described him as a most successful medical practitioner whose medical abilities were sought over a wide area.16 It was John who arranged for his father to be buried in the family plot in Middle Chapel alongside his mother, Jennie Corry. It was his way of making their marriage permanent in the grave as in heaven. Agnes resolved shortly afterwards to sell Court View and to return to Dublin, where her stepson was about to become a national figure in his mission to satisfy the nation’s ‘hunger and thirst for doctrine’.
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Man of Mystery


1925–32







‘There was about the man at this time a distinctive aura.’


Fr Michael O’Carroll C.S.Sp.





In his first speech as Dean of Studies at Blackrock College on December 21, 1925, Fr John McQuaid C.S.Sp. flattered the average performers rather than the academic high-fliers when announcing the Christmas examination results. Enthused more by Gregorian Chant than rugby, he listed his priorities as their mental training, character formation and life-long commitment to ‘the supernatural work of social charity’. Not a speech likely to woo adolescents, McQuaid’s words, spoken in a low but commanding voice, nevertheless cast a spell.


The Holy Ghost priest Fr Michael O’Carroll, who listened to that speech as a student in the Intermediate Certificate class, remembers vividly that an ‘air of wonder’ hung over McQuaid. His teaching of art appreciation and literary criticism was informed by ‘a sense of style that was inherent in him, by a characteristic precision and by subtlety of manner down to the intonation and gestures,’ says O’Carroll, recalling the finely chiselled lettering on the blackboard. ‘We felt that behind it all was something deeply spiritual, perhaps mysterious.’1


‘A slight narrow-featured man whose generally ascetic air and bearing were somehow emphasised by the fact that he carried one shoulder higher than the other,’ is how McQuaid is remembered by the writer and poet, Anthony Cronin. ‘He had a piercing eye, a mouth that betrayed a certain humorous expectancy and an undoubted presence.’2


His mannerisms were imitated by the boys, who nicknamed him ‘Mixer McQuaid’ after the pipe tobacco known as ‘Mick McQuaid’. The story is often told of the boy who mimicked his manner of walking with one shoulder drooping slightly, but who was surprised to have his own shoulder tapped by McQuaid, whispering in his ear, ‘The other shoulder’. Brian O’Nolan, who would win literary fame under the noms-de-plume of Flann O’Brien and Myles na gCopaleen, imitated McQuaid’s writing, and provided his versions to other boys as official excuses for undone homework.


Although McQuaid tended to keep his distance, his image as a teacher is not that of an aloof or timid man. Indeed, the stereotype of McQuaid as ‘a shy, retiring man’ has been challenged as totally inaccurate by Brian O’Nolan’s brother, Ciarán Ó Nualláin, who found him to be a strong personality, ‘He was a friendly, sociable, learned man with a good sense of humour.’3


McQuaid was enthusiastic about the college’s debating society, but his choice of subjects could be heavy. One of the debates grappled with the question: ‘Can fallen man, in his present historical circumstances, all strictly supernatural assistance apart, perform some of the acts which in the natural order are to be deemed in every sense, morally good?’ ‘No’ was his answer. This was the doctrinal core of his pedagogy. Convinced that a pupil’s will was defective as a result of the original sin of Adam and Eve in the Garden of Eden, he argued that a balance needed to be struck between moral order and personal freedom. To achieve this, the Catholic system was ‘fatherly, both in the firmness with which it apportions penalties and in the delicacy with which it judges individual frailty’.4


As Dean of Studies, McQuaid administered corporal punishment sparingly. ‘I was flogged by McQuaid,’ recalls Robert Geldof, father of singer Bob Geldof. ‘I had to kneel down and lift up the shirt after being reprimanded for impudence for defending another student who was victimised by a priest unfitted for the Blackrock classroom after a traumatic spell in Africa.’ According to Geldof, who described McQuaid as a ‘likeable man with a tough face and a quiet manner,’ he tried to understand why students had been reported for punishment by asking them to explain themselves.5


Yet as Fr O’Carroll has noted, McQuaid was moody. He could be abrupt and prickly. Asked by a colleague, Fr Francis Howell, to translate from French into English a biography of the Holy Ghost Superior General, Monsignor le Roy, he replied sharply, ‘You have not the faintest idea of what my work here means, especially at this season of the year. I return it with regret that you did not first ask me whether it was possible. I should not then have been obliged to do what may seem very ungracious. I may later find time.’6 He often conveyed a hint of deep sadness in his own life. ‘You are young and grief of soul is not your lot, as yet,’ he told the boys during a talk on guardian angels. ‘One day you will know it and in that day God’s angel will be with you.’7


His other duties as Dean meant that McQuaid was responsible for planning the curriculum, for grading and grouping the boys in classes and for the day-to-day supervision of order and discipline. He organised the school timetable and allocated classes and duties to the staff. Interested in medical advances, he consulted doctors and psychologists on applying psychology to the personality development of his boys.8 He helped Joseph Egan to get over shyness by telling him, ‘You are much too timid, Joseph. Go into the corner and shout at me!’9 A shrewd judge of a boy’s aptitude, he pioneered career guidance in the college. He failed, however, to impress a young lady who came to discuss her younger brother’s poor school reports and assess his prospects for a job in the banks. This was Edel Quinn, the future Envoy of the Legion of Mary and now a candidate for sainthood. ‘The Dean is fairly young and has a most doleful way of speaking. Like the younger priest in the Abbey play, he would really send you into the depths!’ she wrote. Edel was annoyed by McQuaid’s remark to Ralph, ‘Are not sisters terrible bosses!’10


McQuaid kept his promise to encourage the average student. When he discovered that a class of sixth-year boys lacked even the rudiments of Latin late in term, he announced in his low steely voice: ‘Gentlemen, we shall begin with mensa.’ By the end of that term, his systematic exposition of grammar and syntax enabled 17 of the 18 boys to pass the examination.11


In the English literature class, McQuaid taught that the purpose of writing was ‘to interest, to amuse, to elevate’. A master of précis, he presented thumbnail assessments of the great writers: William Shakespeare had unprecedented mastery of language, Sir Walter Scott provided a great portrait-gallery of characters of every rank and style, Charles Dickens left a legacy of good beyond all accidental faults, William Makepeace Thackery was a good prose writer whose novels lacked firm plots, William Goldsmith was a naive but shrewd humorist, John Keats embodied the ideal of what was popularly considered to be ‘poetry’, William Wordsworth was egotistical, Samuel Coleridge was intensely imaginative, Lord Byron was deliberately outrageous and lacking in deep vision, Percy Bysshe Shelley was the supreme lyrical poet, Robert Browning was direct and precise but capable of writing carelessly, Arthur Tennyson possessed craftsmanship of very high power, and Robert Burns was Scotland’s drunken and dissipated national poet who made permanent a dying dialect.12


For McQuaid the greatest living prose writer was Hilaire Belloc, the English Catholic convert whose famous bestseller, Europe and the Faith, captured the imagination of a generation of Irish as well as English Catholics.13 With Belloc came that other literary convert, Gilbert Keith Chesterton, who taunted his secular opponents with the conviction that St Thomas Aquinas knew all that there was to be known. A third prose model was the French neo-Thomist scholar, Jacques Maritain, who, sickened by the materialism of university life in Paris, made a suicide pact with his wife, only to revoke it after hearing a lecture by the Catholic philosopher, Henri Bergson. Through the publishers Wilfrid Sheed and Maisie Ward, McQuaid came to know personally this trio of unyielding Catholic apologists.


According to Anthony Cronin, McQuaid himself was ‘something of a prose stylist in a rag-bag Edwardian, mandarin way’.14 Others have described his frequently pedantic and purple prose as ‘the language of the corset-maker’.15 Certainly, his use of language is archaic, and often laden, in today’s soundbite age; but well-crafted gems of irony or observation keep surfacing and make his prose memorable and trenchant in places.16 There was no place for Protestant writers like Jonathan Swift, William Butler Yeats or Sean O’Casey in McQuaid’s classroom, and most certainly not for the Clongowes renegade, James Joyce, the Blackrock rebel, Liam O’Flaherty, and the UCD poet, Austin Clarke.


The new order


McQuaid quickly discovered that he had a natural flair for ‘networking’. While the President, Fr Leen, was preoccupied with educational theory and highbrow spirituality, McQuaid – while not lacking in either of those demanding specialisms – excelled in the social graces and was a generous host. The old Blackrock and Clongowes school-tie connections meant that in a short time there was no one of importance in politics, the civil service, the judiciary, industry and commerce, the army and Garda Síochána that he did not know – or who did not know of him. Blackrock College was McQuaid’s gateway to the Free State’s political, social and ecclesiastical elite.


Encouraged by Leen, he became friendly with the head of Government, W.T. Cosgrave, a proud bearer of Knight of the Grand Cross of the Order of Pius IX. Before long, Cosgrave agreed to speak at Blackrock’s Prize Day, and not long afterwards his wife, Louisa, presented the prizes at the revived college Sports Day. However, to the dismay of The Irish Times and its mainly Protestant readers, Cosgrave used Blackrock College as a platform on which to insist on compulsory Irish.17


Government ministers like Patrick McGilligan, Fionán Lynch, Michael Corrigan and John Marcus O’Sullivan became a regular sight at Blackrock functions. This generation of politicians was receptive to the claims of the Catholic Church in society. Already underway was a process of State abdication of its authority. In the immediate post-independence period Cosgrave had considered giving the Vatican the power of veto over legislation contrary to faith and morals in return for Papal recognition of the new State. Another quixotic plan to convert the General Post Office in O’Connell Street into a cathedral also failed to materialise. But the new State did not baulk at enforcing Catholic teaching forbidding divorce. Attempts in 1923 by the Attorney General, Hugh Kennedy, to preserve for Protestants a parliamentary procedure granting marriage dissolutions with right to remarry were scuppered by the Hierarchy. Ignored was the eloquent warning by the Senator and poet, William Butler Yeats, that the task of reconciling the Protestant minority’s constitutional freedom with the will of the majority would be the state’s most delicate problem. Yeats carried no weight with the Cosgrave Government, which used censorship to cultivate a closed society, reinforced by Church control of the education system.18


The catholicisation of the Free State proceeded steadily. In 1923 a law on film censorship was approved. In 1924 and 1927 laws curtailing the consumption of strong alcoholic drink were introduced at the prompting of the bishops. By 1926 the census showed that the Protestant population had begun to decline, and over the next decades would fall from 11 per cent of the population to its present low of around 5 per cent.


The ethos in which McQuaid operated was inherited from the unchallenged dominance of the Catholic Church in the Free State. Since 1919 the bishops had drawn up a uniform syllabus and examination in religious instruction which was totally under Church control. In addition to the catechism, pupils in their first three years of secondary schooling were taught the creed and the commandments, as well as learning about virtue, vice, grace and the sacraments; they also studied the Gospels, church history and liturgy. In the final two years students followed courses in apologetics and Catholic social science, which covered elementary economics and the teachings of Popes Leo XIII and Pius XI. A course in Plain Chant was obligatory.19


McQuaid boasted that there was not a single State school in Ireland: the country’s 280 Catholic secondary schools were built, equipped and managed by the Religious Orders or the diocesan clergy. Because they received government subsidies, they were subject to State inspection and followed the State examination system; however, the Minister for Education, John Marcus O’Sullivan, who was regarded as a Catholic intellectual, believed that it was the State’s duty to finance the Church-owned schools, while recognising the Catholic Church’s right to educate its members without further State involvement.20


In Fr Leen, Blackrock College could claim an educationalist who was second only to Professor Timothy Corcoran S.J. but who was also a Catholic writer with a considerable international appeal. From Abbeyfeale, Co. Limerick, he had been educated in France by Pierre Genoud, later Archbishop of Guadaloupe, and in Rome by Fr Billot. Before his appointment to Blackrock his horizons had been broadened through two years spent in Southern Nigeria, where he had been secretary to Bishop Shanahan and diocesan director of education. His blueprint for Irish education hinged on making the system Christian and Catholic; it also aimed ‘to liberate the teachers from the Anglo-Saxon mould’.21


Leen’s objective of catholicising the British educational legacy corresponded with the outlook of his chief assistant, John McQuaid, who wanted to promote the integralist ethos in the school curriculum. They did not believe that secular instruction and religious education could be kept apart. On the contrary, they inculcated into their students the belief that religion must influence their civic, commercial and private lives.


Direction to do so was coming from Rome itself, where at the end of 1925 Pius XI published the Encyclical Quas Primas, fixing the last Sunday in October annually as the feast of Christ the King. On that day Catholics were to affirm their commitment to ‘the Kingship of Christ on Earth’ and to study the Papal teaching that the Catholic Church provided the principles on which could be built a just order for the nations of the world. In Ireland this meant, first of all the healing of divisions arising from the Civil War. Under the leadership of the Professor of Church History at Milltown, Fr Edward Cahill S.J., around 40 priests and lay Catholics, including Éamon de Valera, founded the League of Christ the King, An Ríoghacht.22


Deeply involved in this movement, McQuaid arranged for its first feast-day meeting to be held in Blackrock College on October 31, 1926. It was addressed by Fr Cahill and Fr Denis Fahey. The League aimed to educate Catholics in their Church’s social principles and to work ‘towards the gradual building up of a Christian State on the lines of the Catholic national tradition but suited to modern circumstances’.


As part of its blueprint for the development of a Free State based on Catholic social order, its ambitious programme involved the devising of economic plans to develop forestry, fishing, manufacturing industry, banking and the control of credit and the currency. Particular attention was given to the training of young persons as lay defenders of the Faith against the Communist challenge. The promotion of Catholic education rather than State education was a central plank in its policy. It called for an exacting system of censorship to control the evil of the cinema and imported newspapers from Britain. An advocate of State control of public morality, it frowned on ‘an excessive craze after dissipation and excitement’ at cinemas, ballrooms and race-meetings. It also aimed to control the new medium of radio, which had begun in Ireland as 2RN at the start of 1926.23


Prior to the launching of An Ríoghacht, McQuaid had returned to the continent to keep abreast of theological developments. In Rome, he passed the examination for his Doctor of Divinity degree at the Gregorian University, a consolation for not having completed his course in biblical studies. There he applied for membership of the Society of Thomist scholars (Unio Thomistica) and was admitted as John C. McQuaid D.D.24


He spent some time in France, where he cultivated old and new friends. One of these was Count Biver,25 with whom he shared a devotion to a holy priest who was being compared with the Curé d’Ars for humility and saintliness. This was Père Jean Édouard Lamy, a mystic whose visions of Jesus, Mary and Satan had attracted a cult following. Lamy’s appeal resided in his teaching that in the daily struggle against Lucifer, the Blessed Virgin Mary had mastered the Evil One.


The Blessed Virgin was Lamy’s life. He claimed that Mary appeared to him before his First Communion, which he made at the age of eleven, and that in 1883 she cured him of eczema. In September 1909 the Virgin appeared to him with Lucifer, and on this occasion she foretold the onset of the First World War and condemned Modernism. After showing him a spot in the woods at Clairvaux, Mary asked him to build a shrine to her, Notre Dame des Bois.


On his return to Ireland, McQuaid often spoke to his friends, colleagues and students about the miraculous powers of Père Lamy, who had taken hold of his adult spiritual life as completely as Brother Gaspard had directed his religious outlook in adolescence.


With his fluent French and Italian, McQuaid was courted at diplomatic receptions and dinners of the resident ambassadors. He was a regular guest at functions in Iveagh House, headquarters of the Department of External Affairs, especially after Patrick McGilligan became minister in October 1927. Worried that this lifestyle might run contrary to his vow of poverty, he sought advice from his confessor, Fr Fennelly, who reassured him that he was in fact ‘unworkably severe concerning reparation to be made for violations of poverty’.26


Triumphalism was becoming the dominant characteristic of Catholicism in the Free State, which was also submitting its social mores to the control of the clergy and a devout laity – described by the writers Liam O’Flaherty and Peadar O’Donnell respectively but not respectfully as ‘the soutaned bullies of the Lord’ and ‘the yahoo laity’. At the Synod of Maynooth in 1927 the bishops complained of ‘the dance hall, the bad book, the indecent paper, the motion picture, the immodest fashion in female dress, all of which tend to destroy the virtues characteristic of our race.’ The State responded to the Church’s cue by introducing the Censorship of Publications Act 1929 against ‘evil literature’.


The first big event in the life of the new State was the celebration in 1929 of the centenary of Catholic Emancipation. Oblivious to the feelings of the Protestant minority, this event produced a remarkable demonstration of national thanksgiving to God for a century of Catholic religious freedom. A highlight of the celebrations was a garden party for 4,000 guests in the grounds at Blackrock College, hosted by the Hierarchy but organised by McQuaid and his colleagues. It was hailed as the largest and most fashionable garden party ever held in Dublin. ‘Beautiful weather favoured the event,’ the Irish Independent reported. ‘The crowds of fashionably dressed ladies moving in a setting of sylvan grandeur made a most impressive spectacle.’27 There was a new confidence running through Blackrock, evident in the relaunch of the College Annual and the revival of the college theatre, and the introduction of a junior conference of the St Vincent de Paul Society inaugurated by former Blackrock luminaries Sir Joseph Glynn and Frank Duff.28 McQuaid, for his part, had established his name in social and educational circles, and in 1929 he was appointed special delegate on the Department of Education’s Commission of Inquiry into the Teaching of English. He represented Ireland at the first International Congress of Independent Secondary Education in Brussels.


In January 1930 Archbishop Paschal Robinson,29 the first Apostolic Nuncio to Ireland since Archbishop Rinnuccini in the seventeenth century, was welcomed by Archbishop Byrne and Government ministers when he arrived at Dun Laoghaire. He was met with scenes of fervent devotion in the south Dublin seaside town, and at Blackrock McQuaid lined the road with his students, who waved as the Nuncio passed in his car. This was the first street demonstration by the college since Queen Victoria had been welcomed to Ireland 30 years earlier.30


By 1930, too, the political pendulum was swinging towards de Valera, who had broken with Sinn Féin and had founded a new political party, Fianna Fáil, to advance his objectives of a united Catholic and Gaelic Ireland. The college, which had fostered a close relationship with Cosgrave’s party, now had to revise its attitude towards de Valera. The bridgehead to de Valera was McQuaid. He had befriended Éamon and Sinéad de Valera when they visited the College almost daily for ten days in December 1928 during a serious illness of their son Vivion. McQuaid’s attentiveness to Vivion, then and later, was greatly appreciated.31 Although Vivion had begun his studies at University College Dublin, he lived in Blackrock College, where the climate was conductive to his recovery from asthma attacks.


A shared pastime of McQuaid and Vivion was target practice using .22 rifles which they fired to great abandonment in their joint mission of decimating the rat population which bred around the Willow Park mansion and the out-offices. For years afterwards, colleagues marvelled about the day McQuaid spotted a cat ambling across the quadrangle some 60 yards away with a rat in its jaws. Taking careful aim, McQuaid fired and shot the rat from the cat’s mouth. To show it was not a freak hit, McQuaid picked out another distant object and put two bullets through it in quick succession. ‘She is firing a little to the left!’ he commented.


With student numbers beginning to rise, McQuaid had assumed more administrative responsibilities. Increasingly, he undertook ‘parlour work’, meeting parents and relatives of students with special problems, to relieve Leen from routine duties. He built up a reputation for being accessible, and ‘clientelist’ in the efforts which he made to place boys in good jobs, especially in the harsh days after the economic collapse of 1929.


McQuaid found himself him in a highly sensitive position when he detected in Leen, a man prone to sharp outbursts, the early signs of a mental and physical breakdown. The strains on Leen were showing from his heavy workload as retreat and conference preacher, as the co-founder with Bishop Shanahan of the Killeshandra Foundation,32 as the chairman of the Catholic Headmasters’ Association and as a member of a Government Commission into Proselytism. His worries were significantly added to by his plans for a new college wing which would include a kitchen, pantries and a boiler-room. Psychologically he nursed a continuing hurt from the bishops’ disapproval of an article he had written in the Irish Ecclesiastical Record on the Mass in 1924. In late 1930 Leen felt no longer able to continue as President and he petitioned Paris to be relieved of his office. The Superior General, Bishop Le Hunsec, appointed Leen Professor of Psychology and Ethics in the Senior Scholasticate, a post which gave him time – after recovering from his temporary collapse – to write books that made him one of the bestselling spiritual writers of his period.33


There was little doubt as to who would succeed Leen. In Paris on December 24, 1930, the Holy Ghost Superior General signed McQuaid’s appointment as President of Blackrock College, an appointment that was confirmed on January 6, 1931, by the Irish Provincial, Fr Hartnett. He was 35 years old.34


President of Blackrock College


A change of style from the Leen years immediately marked McQuaid’s presidency of Blackrock College. For the college sports in 1931 each invitation card had to be presented for control at the college entrance and the names of the guests were supplied to the press. The distinguished visitors included the Governor General, James McNeill, the Garda Commissioner, General Eoin O’Duffy, the French Minister and Mme Alphand, the Belgian Consul-General and Mme Goor, as well as ‘Mr É. de Valera, T.D., Miss M. de Valera and Mr V. de Valera’.35


In his address welcoming O’Duffy as guest of honour, McQuaid boasted that ‘in the great revival of athletics inaugurated by him in Ireland, it will please him to see Blackrock in the vanguard.’ It was not an idle boast: over the next few years Blackrock won numerous trophies in college tournaments. Bright rugby prospects combined with good examination results and increasing school numbers quickly enhanced his position as a dynamic and successful president. While holding the reins tightly over both the college staff and the Holy Ghost community stationed in Blackrock, McQuaid delegated much of the day-to-day management to his subordinates, Frs Daniel Liston, James Finucane and Walter Finn, organising his own schedule to give himself ample time to pursue his many other interests.


In his first presidential address to the Blackrock Union, McQuaid commended Catholic Action as ‘the apple of Pope Pius XI’s eye’.36 This was a reference to the publication by Pope Pius XI of his Encyclical, Quadragesimo Anno, only five months into his presidency. This Encyclical proposed that class struggle should be displaced by the creation of corporations or guilds representing each class and caste in society, a system modelled on medieval Christendom. It attacked the centralised State, as found in Bolshevik Russia, and advocated ‘subsidiarity’ so as to favour decision-making at local level. Priests were urged to promote social study among working men, employers and youth in accordance with Catholic doctrine. Quadragesimo Anno gave an enormous stimulus to the vocationalist (or corporatist) movement in Ireland and elsewhere, and came just at a time when an ascendant Fianna Fáil party was borrowing heavily from the Papacy’s language of social democracy. With de Valera’s establishment of the Irish Press as ‘the Truth in the News’, McQuaid’s Blackrock speeches – as well as those as chairman of the Catholic Headmasters’ Association – were reported prominently in that newspaper. In his address to the Blackrock College Union he declared that his daily prayer, when mounting the altar-steps to say Mass, was that the boys under his care would take their place in ‘the Catholic life of our young State, [as] integral Catholics of Blackrock training’. Not for his boys were indulgence in the sins of social laziness, nor membership of the self-constituted intelligentsia of pagan movements, literary and artistic. Nor too would they become the tool of unquiet agitators.




It is our present endeavour so to enlighten and discipline our boys that each, with God’s help, may be an intelligent and willing cooperator with the Hierarchy and the parish clergy in social charity. And by social charity I mean no small thing, nor any mere freelance effort. Rather I mean that work of years that lies ahead of us, work of head and heart and will for the social betterment of this Catholic people.37





McQuaid went to France over the Christmas period, perhaps to visit the grave of Père Lamy who had died on December 1: Éamon de Valera, in whom McQuaid had nurtured a devotion to the French priest, had asked him to bring back a relic. McQuaid noted that anti-clericalism had abated somewhat in France. There was a remarkable vitality in spiritual writing and social thinking, which was also spreading to Belgium and Switzerland, and on a visit to the Loreto House in Paris he met a group of Sisters who were preparing to work as missionaries in East Africa and Mauritius.


McQuaid was spiritually recharged when he returned to Ireland in early January 1932 – and in an apocalyptic frame of mind. In an address to the Society of St Vincent de Paul, he told the officers that they were doing apostolic work in preparing boys to work under the parish clergy for ‘the coming struggle for the faith in Ireland’.38 The form that struggle would take was about to be revealed by McQuaid at a special sermon back in his native Cavan.




Notes


1 Studies, Winter, 1998.


2 Anthony Cronin, No Laughing Matter, p. 34.


3 Ciarán Ó Nualláin, The Early Years of Brian O’Nolan, p. 70


4 The McQuaid Papers in the DDA contain a wide range of materials relating to his Blackrock period from 1925–1940 as Dean of Studies and as President: AB8/A/II.


5 Interview with Robert Geldof.


6 McQuaid to Howell, October 24, 1930, DDA, AB8/A/II.


7 McQuaid Papers, DDA, AB8/A/II.


8 Burke Savage, Studies, Winter, 1965.


9 Máirín Egan to author.


10 Quoted by Desmond Forristal, Edel Quinn, 1907–1944, p. 29.


11 Michael O’Carroll, C.S.Sp.


12 McQuaid Papers, DDA, Blackrock College section.


13 Belloc lectured at Blackrock in March 1928 on ‘The Conspiracy against Christendom.’


14 Anthony Cronin, No Laughing Matter, p. 34.


15 Clerical source.


16 In Studies, 1998, Aidan Lehane C.S.Sp. writes that McQuaid had a fine feeling for words. For example, after leaving his glasses in Rockwell College, he enquired: ‘I have mislaid a pair of glasses in a dark blue case with a tiny fringe of gold decoration. Could I have left them also in your unconscious keeping?’


17 Farragher interview.


18 John Cooney, The Crozier and the Dáil, 1922–1986.


19 McQuaid, The Hague text, August 1, 1933, DDA, AB8/A/VII.70.


20 Educated at Clongowes, Newman’s Catholic University and Heidelberg University, O’Sullivan was described by Mary Macken as devoutly childlike: ‘This intellectual giant had the faith of a child.’ Quoted by E. Brian Titley, Church, State and the Control of Schooling in Ireland, 1900–1944, p. 105.


21 Michael O’Carroll, ‘Defunctus adhuc loquitur’, obituary article in HGA.


22 Finín O’Driscoll, ‘In search of a Christian Social Order: the impact of Social Catholicism in Ireland’, pp. 102–136.


23 Notes on the Projected National Programme, drawn up by Edward Cahill S.J.


24 His card, or Tessera, number 323, is in the DDA.


25 Comte de Biver, Père Lamy. It was perhaps through the philosopher, Jacques Maritain, that McQuaid had been introduced to Lamy and Biver.


26 Fennelly to McQuaid, July 2, 1928, DDA, AB8/A/II.


27 Recalled in ‘A Golden Page in Ireland’s History’, in Irish Independent Eucharistic Congress, Number, June 1932.


28 Farragher interview.


29 Despite his lugubrious public persona, Paschal Robinson, a Franciscan, had a colourful career already behind him. Born in Dublin in 1870, he moved to New York, aged five. After college he became a journalist and joined the North American Review where he became friendly with the writer, Mark Twain. He swopped the editorial chair for the Franciscan habit and was ordained a priest in 1901 in Rome. He was Professor of History at the Catholic University of America in Washington D.C. from 1914 to 1925 when he was appointed the Vatican’s Apostolic Visitor to Palestine. Promoted to the rank of Archbishop in 1927, Robinson had been the special mediator of Pius XI in a church-state controversy in Malta. He was renowned for being secretive and discreet, but disarmed visitors by personal charm and warmth. He lived in the former Chief Secretary’s lodge in the Phoenix Park, which was specially made available to him by the Government.


30 Farragher, Dev and His Alma Mater, p. 160. The College Journalist called for a more balanced guest list.


31 Ibid. The de Valera family moved from Sandymount to Blackrock in April 1930.


32 The Foundation inspired by Bishop Shanahan and Fr Leen was the Missionary Sisters of Our Lady of the Holy Rosary, who purchased Dromullac House, outside Killeshandra, in McQuaid’s native Cavan. Invited in January 1929 to preach there, McQuaid marvelled at the rugged beauty of the location and detected the seal of divine providence in the initiative. It was ‘a fair setting for such an ambitious religious foundation: it has the good odour of Christ about it,’ he said. McQuaid’s gift of prophecy, however, proved fallible: the convent and adjoining farm were sold for £½ million in 1980 to a COOP, and the lavishly ornate building and church have since fallen into ruin.


33 In a foreword to Leen’s Voice of a priest, Fr Bernard J. Kelly C.S.Sp alludes to the breakdown. ‘Trials and failures in all the different spheres in which he was engaged appeared in a synchronised array. He felt unequal to the burden of administering Blackrock College’ (p. 21).


34 It is intriguing that this letter of appointment was taken by McQuaid from Blackrock College when he moved as Archbishop to Drumcondra, where it is to be found in the Blackrock section of his archives, AB8/A/II.15.


35 Farragher, Dev and his Alma Mater, p. 161.


36 Blackrock College Annual, 1930, p. 193.


37 Blackrock College Annual, 1932, pp. 39–44.


38 McQuaid’s address to the Society of St Vincent de Paul, January 24, 1932, DDA.









OEBPS/9781847175038_cover_epub.jpg
e %y
i P e

JOHN CHARLES

McQUAID

RULER OF CATHOLIC IRELAND

| | ,,,‘.'.ti
/ = [

JOHN COONEY ~ .= #4
RaEE> .





OEBPS/03_online.jpg
John Charles

MCQUAID

RULER OF CATHOLIC IRELAND

John Cooney

a
D

THE O’BRIEN PRESS
DUBLIN





OEBPS/02_online.jpg





